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1.  
 

The Council of the Royal College of Physicians of Edinburgh (‘the College’) is pleased to present its annual report for the 
year ended 31 January 2020, together with the financial statements for the same period. The annual report and accounts 
have been prepared in accordance with the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended), the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting and Reporting by 
Charities and Financial Reporting Standard 102 the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

 
Reference and administrative details 
 
Charity name: Royal College of Physicians of Edinburgh 
Charity registration number: SC009465 
Principal office: 9 Queen Street, Edinburgh, EH2 1JQ 
Main website address: http://www.rcpe.ac.uk/ 
Events website address: https://venue.rcpe.co.uk/ 

 
  
Charity Trustees 

The Charity Trustees comprise elected and appointed members of Council. 
 
Elected members of Council 

The President and Vice Presidents are normally elected by all Fellows of the College and normally serve a three-year term 
of office. The UK-based Fellows of the College elect constituency members of Council to serve up to two consecutive terms 
of three years. UK Collegiate Members elect the members of the Trainees and Members’ Committee, who in turn formally 
elect a Chairman and Secretary who serve on Council ex officio. The elected members in the year to 31 January 2020 and 
subsequent to this date comprised: 
 
President:  Professor Derek Bell (demitted March 2020) 

 Professor Andrew Elder   (served March-June 2020) 
Acting President: Professor Angela Thomas                              (appointed June 2020) 

  
 
Vice Presidents: Professor Sunil Bhandari (England & Wales)       (elected May 2019) 

 Dr Conor Maguire                                    (elected November 2019) 
 Dr Susan Pound  
 Dr Thomas Mackay                                 (demitted November 2019) 
  
  
Constituency members: Dr Anne Scott Dr John Davidson 

 Dr Sunil Dolwani Dr Graeme Currie 
 Professor Gregory Y H Lip Professor Jean McEwan 
 Dr Paula Midgley Dr Stuart Richie  
 Dr Hannah Skene Dr Marion Slater  
 Dr Kathleen White Dr Hamish Courtney 
 Dr Patrick Byrne    
 Professor Abdallah Al-Mohammad   (elected November 2019) 
 Dr Alison Falconer   (elected November 2019) 
 Dr Catherine Labinjoh              (elected November 2019) 
 Dr Tom Mackay                                        (elected November 2019) 
 Professor Andrew Collier            (demitted November 2019) 
 Professor Richard Donnelly                    (demitted November 2019) 
 Dr Lesley Dawson                                  (demitted November 2019) 
 
Other elected members: Dr Addy McLeod (Trainees and Members’ Committee)  

  (Elected October 2019) 
 Dr Nicola Robinson (Trainees and members’ Committee) 
  (Elected October 2019) 

Dr Amy Illsley (Trainees and Members’ Committee)  
 (Demitted October 2019) 

 
 
 
 

http://www.rcpe.ac.uk/
https://venue.rcpe.co.uk/
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Appointed members of Council 

All appointed members, including honorary Office Bearers and faculty representatives, are ex officio and are appointed by 
Council itself. The elected members in the year to 31 January 2020 and subsequent to this date comprised: 
 
Treasurer: Dr Kathleen White  
Secretary: Professor Mark Strachan  (served to June 2020) 
Interim Secretary: Professor Jean McEwan  (appointed June 2020) 
Director of Education: Dr Jeremy Hughes 
Director of Examinations: Dr Rod Harvey  
Director of Quality, Research and Standards:  Dr Jean MacLeod 
Director of Training: Dr Mike Jones  (served to June 2020) 
Director of Heritage: Professor Angela Thomas  
Director of RCPE Manchester: Professor Peter Trainer  
  
Other principal Office Bearers 

Editor-in-Chief of the Journal Dr Vinod Ravindran 
 
Other appointed members: Professor John Connell (Academic Medicine)  

 Professor Angela Thomas (Faculty of Pharmaceutical Medicine) 
Dr Martin McKechnie (Royal College of Emergency Medicine) 

 Dr Mark Kroese (Faculty of Public Health)  
Alex MacDonald (College Lay Advisory Committee)  

Trustees 

Council appoints four Fellows who, together with the Treasurer, act as Trustees and have delegated authority to manage 
the investment portfolio. The Trustees in the year to 31 January 2020 and subsequent to this date comprised:  
 

 Professor John Connell  (appointed February 2021) 
 Professor Sir Alan Craft  (appointed February 2021) 
 Professor David Lawson  (served to September 2020) 
 Dr Kathleen White  
 Ms Elaine Tait  (appointed April 2021) 
 Dr Anthony Toft (Chairman)  (served to September 2020) 
 Dr Michael Watson 
 Professor Robert Wood  (served to September 2020) 
 
Key management personnel  

Chief Executive Officer  Mr Keith McKellar (appointed September 2019) 
 Ms Elaine Tait (retired September 2019) 
 
Professional advisors 

The College employs the services of the following professional organisations: 
 
Auditors:  Chiene + Tait LLP 

  Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor 
  61 Dublin Street 
  Edinburgh  
  EH3 6NL 
 
Principal bankers:  Bank of Scotland 

  75 George Street  
  Edinburgh  
  EH2 3EW  
  
Solicitors:  Gillespie Macandrew LLP 

  5 Atholl Crescent 
  Edinburgh  
  EH3 8EJ 
 
Investment advisors:  Adam & Company Investment Management Ltd 

  25 St Andrew Square 
  Edinburgh EH2 1AF   
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Structure, governance and management 
 
Governing document 

The College is constituted by Royal Charter and registered with the Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator (OSCR) and 
HM Revenue & Customs under charity number SC009465. The laws of the College specify governance arrangements and 
are amended as required at meetings of the College.  
 
Organisational structure 

The College has delegated strategic and operational decision taking to Council, which, as the governing body, meets five 
times a year to manage the charitable activities of the College in accordance with its objectives. Council holds the President 
and Vice Presidents and the appointed Office Bearers (Fellows) of the College along with the Chief Executive Officer 
responsible for the implementation of College policy.  
 
The College implements policy through a departmental structure and discharges many of its assessment, specialist training 
and continuing professional development (CPD) duties through membership of the Federation of Royal Colleges of 
Physicians of the United Kingdom (the Federation). The Federation is a partnership of the three medical royal colleges of 
physicians, established to manage joint working in agreed areas, operating under a formal Memorandum of Agreement.  
 
The reporting line to Council is through a series of committees, which include the: 
 

 College Strategy Group; 

 Fellowship Committee; 

 Trainees and Members’ Committee; 

 Recently Appointed Consultants Committee; 

 Education Strategy Group and various sub-committees; 

 Examination Committee; 

 Finance Committee;  

 Library Committee;  

 Lay Advisory Committee; and the 

 Federation of Royal Colleges of Physicians of the UK and various sub-committees. 

 
Council delegates authority for the management of the investment portfolio to the appointed Trustees. 
 
Recruitment and appointment of Charity Trustees 

All Fellows of the College who are in good standing are able to stand, nominate and vote for the office of President or Vice 
President of the College. Fellows of the College in good standing in the UK elect the constituency members of Council. UK 
Collegiate Members elect members of the Trainee and Members’ Committee, who in turn formally elect a Chair and Vice 
Chairs, with two seats at Council.  
  
Office Bearers appointed to Council are selected through open competition. Fellows are invited to apply for Office Bearer 
roles and selection is made by an interview panel, normally comprising senior elected members of Council.  
 
All those elected or appointed to Council are considered Charity Trustees. 
 
Induction and training of Charity Trustees 

On appointment or election, all Council members are given an induction session by the President and Chief Executive 
Officer. In addition, they receive comprehensive literature explaining their obligations as a Charity Trustee, as well as 
regular updates on their responsibilities and related governance issues.  
 
Arrangements for setting the pay and remuneration of key management personnel 

The College considers that its key management personnel comprise the Office Bearers and Chief Executive Officer. No 
Trustees receive any remuneration beyond reimbursement of expenses incurred during College activities. The College’s 
pay structure provides salaries commensurate with evaluated job descriptions for all employees including the Chief 
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Executive Officer. Pay rates are reviewed annually by a remuneration sub-committee of the Finance Committee and cost of 
living awards are negotiated through the Joint Negotiating Committee. 
 
Affiliations and relationships with co-operating organisations 

The College is a member of The Federation of Royal Colleges of Physicians of the United Kingdom along with the Royal 
College of Physicians of London and the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Glasgow. Federation is an 
unincorporated body, operating as a partnership and under a formal Memorandum of Agreement, supplying professional 
examinations, training and continuous professional development services. In addition, the College is a member of both the 
Academy of Medical Royal Colleges, known as the ‘UK Academy’, and the Academy of Medical Royal Colleges and 
Faculties in Scotland, known as the ‘Scottish Academy’. The UK Academy is a charity incorporated as a company limited by 
guarantee and speaks on standards of care and medical education across the UK, by bringing together the expertise of the 
medical Colleges and Faculties. The Scottish Academy is an unincorporated body comprising the College leads in Scotland 
and has a similar purpose to the UK Academy.  
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Objectives and activities  
 

The Royal College of Physicians of Edinburgh aims to improve public health and the quality of patient care. It represents 
over 13,000 Fellows and Members worldwide, setting standards and influencing health policy. The College helps physicians 
and related specialties pursue their careers through its world-renowned education and training programme. Working with its 
sister Colleges across medicine, it maintains the highest standards in training, assessment and CPD. 
 
During 2019, the College developed its new strategy, ‘Towards 2025 Together’, which was later, launched in February 
2020. This set out the journey for the next five years, underpinned by its mission to promote and improve the quality of 
health and patient care worldwide. 
 
Over the next five years, the College wants to promote and improve the quality of health and patient care worldwide, and be 
the College of choice for physicians and related specialties internationally. In order to do this, four strategic aims have been 
developed: 

 

 To be the voice of physicians, shaping and influencing healthcare policy around the world; 
 

 To build an inclusive and collaborative global community that supports physicians across all stages of their 
careers, furthering the College’s network of Fellows and Members; 

 

 To deliver lifelong learning for a sustainable health system using the College’s expertise, heritage and cutting-edge 
technology to benefit physicians and patients; 

 

 To create a world-class infrastructure which underpins the College’s work. 
 

Grant making policy 
 

The College holds a number of trusts and funds, which contain sums bequeathed or set aside for specific areas of research, 
education or a more general use. Each fund has specific criteria for usage as set out in the College Trust and Fund 
Framework. These criteria must be met before grants and awards are released. 
 
The trusts and funds support a wider range of awards and scholarships which seek to recognise excellence in teaching, 
training, research and service innovation. They are advertised on a dedicated page on the College website at 
http://www.rcpe.ac.uk/college/awards-and-scholarships. Applications are normally considered on a case-by-case basis. 
 
The College, in partnership with the University of Edinburgh, awards a number of scholarships to support postgraduate 
students taking an MSc in Internal Medicine or Critical Care. Applications are invited annually. The College also supports a 
number of research fellowships, the largest of which is the JMAS Sim Fellowship, which funds research into depressive 
illness. Applications are normally invited on an annual basis. 
 

Achievements and performance 

 
Council is satisfied that the wider objectives of the College, as set out in ‘Objectives and activities’ above have been met in 
the year under review and that the College’s charitable activities have been delivered in accordance with the expectations of 
its Trustees. 
 
Principal activities and achievements in 2019/20 are noted below. 
 
Education and Training 

In 2019, the College organised 72 educational events, including 15 symposia, 10 courses and 15 evening meetings. Events 
were attended by 16,118 delegates in Edinburgh or via our 61 international and 125 UK web-streaming sites.  
  
Our largest attendances were consistently for our Evening Medical Updates (EMU), which usually attract over 1,000 
delegates each month. Other highlights included: 

  
 The five-day Edinburgh International Course in Medicine for the Elderly, which attracted a high number of 

delegates from over 20 countries, the 23rd Advanced Gastroenterology and Hepatology Course and the fully 
subscribed St Andrew’s Day Festival.  

 

 An average of 520 Fellows and Members per month used the online education portal. The development of new 
formats and content for the portal continues to strengthen this key education medium.  

http://www.rcpe.ac.uk/college/awards-and-scholarships
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 The CPD diary for physicians (now available as an app for mobile use), run in partnership with our sister colleges 
through the Federation, allows participants to plan and reflect on their learning and the impact of attending 
educational events.  

 

 Also in partnership with sister Colleges, the College contributed to the continuing development of training in the 
physicians’ specialties through the Joint Royal Colleges of Physicians Training Board (JRCPTB) and through the 
Academy of the Medical Royal Colleges of the UK.  
 

 The MSc in Internal Medicine, run in conjunction with the University of Edinburgh, is performing well in terms of 
student satisfaction and numbers. The College has sponsored scholarships for doctors from a wide range of 
countries across Africa, the Middle and Far East and the Indian sub-continent. Development of our MSc in Critical 
Care has progressed well and the first students have now enrolled. 

 
We introduced Slido, a smartphone-compatible voting system, in summer 2019 to replace the Turning Point voting handsets 
with the aim of enabling both College and remote delegates to engage in case discussions and ask questions.  The Q&A 
facility has been excellent and enabled superb audience participation in online education events.  Questions have signalled 
the concerns of delegates and helped us to ensure the relevance of our programme.  Slido has been used at 43 events, 
with 3,059 questions posed by 2,904 users.  
 
Exams  

The examinations team devoted a significant portion of time and effort on planning, organisation and training to support 
candidates, examiners and host venues in preparation for the UK launch of PACES 2020 exam. This represents a major 
reformatting of the clinical examination. 
 
In support of the College’s outreach strategy, the team increased the number diploma ceremonies to celebrate the success 
of doctors achieving their MRCP (UK) qualification both in Edinburgh and for the first time in Manchester.  
 
The local, Edinburgh examinations team also supported delivery of the clinical examination to over 900 candidates across 
14 centres. 
 
Membership 

As at 31 December 2019 there were almost 12,000 active Members and Fellows.. Fellowship numbers increased by 9%; 
membership numbers, including Collegiate, Associate and Student & Foundation members, increased by 10%, with strong 
growth in Associates.  
 
The Trainees and Members’ Committee (TMC) continued to deliver the successful EMU programme and provided 
representation for Trainees and Members on issues ranging from IMT curriculum development to challenges in recruitment. 
The TMC delivered a series of recommendations to the College on how to better support Less Than Full Time (LTFT) 
Trainees following their survey showing that a significant proportion of trainees was interested in LTFT. 
 
The Recently Appointed Consultants’ Committee (RAC) held their successful evening meeting in collaboration with the 
Quality Governance Collaborative covering topics such as ‘poor behaviours in healthcare’ and the ‘leadership of culture’ 
with over 250 attending this event. The RAC also held their symposium in March 2019 covering topics such as pride in the 
workplace, disability at work, reflection and resilience.  
 
The Enhance scheme: Mentoring for Medics was launched in March 2019 with in person training for mentors taking place 
throughout the year.  
 
External Relations  

Ahead of the election to the UK Parliament in December 2019, the College's 'Health Priorities' policy document was 
refreshed and remodelled, outlining the College's priorities for healthcare across the four nations of the UK. The College 
also held a programme of meetings with key political and policy stakeholders across the UK to discuss healthcare and wider 
policy issues related to Brexit, which included participation in events at the SNP, Scottish Conservative and Scottish Labour 
conferences in Scotland and both Conservative and Labour conferences in England. 
 
The College submitted 50 separate consultation responses during 2019. Engagement with key parliamentary and civil 
service stakeholders has continued, including in support of the passage of the Health and Social Care (Staffing) (Scotland) 
Bill through the Scottish Parliament which passed in May 2019.   
 
Careful monitoring and co-ordination of social media has improved the dissemination of important messages linked to our 
policy activity and the rapid assessment of views and opinions. During 2019, our followers on Twitter increased by 20% and 
on Facebook by 10%. The number of page views of our main College website increased by 19%.  
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Representation 

The College continues to be represented at cross party groups, host Scottish Health Action on Alcohol Problems (SHAAP) 
and is a founder member of the Scottish Obesity Alliance. It also provides administrative services to the Scottish Academy 
and supports a number of Scottish medical specialty societies through the provision of secretariat services and delivery of 
educational events. 
 
The College's Lay Advisory Committee and its Health and Wellbeing group met regularly throughout the year and continue 
to exert a positive influence over the College's strategy and policy positions. 

 
Heritage  

The College’s ‘Moonstruck’ exhibition held in the Physicians’ Gallery exhibition space between June 2019 and February 
2020, proved highly successful. It had a footfall of nearly 9,000 visitors and received positive media attention, with the 
curator interviewed on BBC Radio Scotland’s ‘Time Travels’ and on STV. The exhibition was also reviewed in The Lancet 
and covered in the Edinburgh Evening News, The National and by BBC News International. 
The heritage team increased its digital web and social media presence significantly in 2019, with: 
 

 5,039 podcast downloads 
 

 786,000 Tweet impressions 
 

 12,348 Youtube video views 
 

 57,688 heritage webpage visits 
 
The Heritage Appeal was also launched, raising almost £82,000 towards the costs of future exhibitions in the Physicians’ 
Gallery.  
 
The heritage team also hosted 15 public events in 2019. These included the McCarthy Award for History of Medicine 
Research, creative writing workshops and lectures. The public lecture programme was varied, covering topics such as the 
history of mental health, plague and epidemics and diabetes – past and present. All lectures were made available online at 
http://rcpe.ac.uk/heritage/history-of-medicine-audio-and-video-resources. 
 
Quality Governance Collaborative 

The Quality Governance Collaborative (QGC) is an independent non-governmental body within the College that is 
committed to developing a new, integrated approach to quality governance in healthcare. The QGC brings together multi-
professional groups to improve the practice of quality governance and ensure that health systems continue to deliver for 
patients. 
 
The QGC built on the success of its first fellowship course delivering a number of successful events, its first annual 
conference as well as the publication of a report on the future of healthcare in Northern Ireland. The QGC fellowship 
programme has continued with places fully subscribed and a second cohort recruited during the summer of 2019. The 
College has continued to work to build links with the World Health Organisation (WHO).  
 
Infrastructure 

The main focus of development activity was two-fold, an option appraisal on the provision of a business lounge space for 
Fellows and Members and initiating work to transform the College digitally. 
 
The Fellows and Members Lounge was intended to provide a comfortable business lounge space offering a welcoming 
environment in which Fellows and Members could relax and work individually or within a meeting environment. Work 
progressed rapidly during 2019 with the College steering group, supported by an external project and design team, 
assessing a range of options for developing the basement space in No10 Queen Street. To date the project has progressed 
to the developed design stage with expected costs of development overall of between £110,000 and £150,000. 
 
In support of the Colleges intention to transform its digital profile, a Digital Transformation Lead was appointed to explore 
how the College could connect and engage more effectively with its global communities.  In late 2019, a proposal for 
‘Building a Digital College’ was presented to Council outlining, in conceptual terms, how this might be achieved. This 
identified areas of improvement that included being more responsive to customer needs, better data gathering and analysis 
and encouraging employees to be more collaborative and innovate. The intention was to deliver a digital infrastructure that 
was more agile, offered real-time communication and collaboration and provided access anytime and anywhere to Fellow 
and Members services. Initial scoping of the project identified a potential need for investment of £1m. 
 

http://rcpe.ac.uk/heritage/history-of-medicine-audio-and-video-resources
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One of the highlights of the year came early, in February 2019, with the opening of the Physicians International Conference 
Centre by HRH Princess Anne.  This prompted an increase in development activity as the full range of College facilities 
became available to the commercial events team that included an emphasis on exhibiting to and developing the medical 
association and wedding markets.  A solid set of results in year, with income increasing to approaching £0.5m, set a solid 
foundation for the implementation of a 5-year plan to grow commercial turnover from letting of rooms and facilities to £1m. 
 
Contribution to the College 

A significant part of College activity is guided and delivered by its Fellows and Members. Their support is given on a 
voluntary basis and the College very much values their input and expertise, particularly at a time when it is becoming 
increasingly difficult for doctors to find time away from clinical practice. The College remains focused on engaging its 
membership in its principal activities by helping to engineer capacity for doctors to support the College, and by recognising 
their efforts. In addition, the College is fortunate to have the support of an energetic Lay Advisory Committee which is fully 
engaged in College affairs and which adds a valuable external perspective to the decision making process. 
 
The value of services provided by volunteers although significant has not been included in these accounts, as it is not easily 
quantifiable. 
 
Further information on the work of the College is available on the main College website at http://www.rcpe.ac.uk. 

http://www.rcpe.ac.uk/
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Financial Review 
 
The 2019/20 accounts were prepared with reference to the ‘Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting and 
Reporting by Charities preparing their accounts in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland (FRS102) (effective January 2019) ’. The completion of the financial statements and audit for 2019/20 
was delayed due to the impact of COVID-19 on operations and additional time needed to achieve a resolution on the 
financial position and audit of Federation activities. 
 
Over the reporting period, the College returned a total surplus of £2,478,041 (2019: deficit of £3,331,269). This included a 
number of exceptional items: 
 

 net realised and unrealised gains on investments of £944,549 (2019: losses of £452,457) 
 

 a gain on revaluation of heritable property of £1,540,000 (2019: £nil) 
 

 charitable expenditure of £131,160 (2019: £2,958,831) on completion of the refurbishment of the Physicians’ 
International Conference Centre.  

 
If these movements are excluded, the total, underlying operational surplus for the year was £124,652 (2019: £80,019). 
 
Comparable income rose by £955,038 or 13% over the period. Expenditure levels decreased overall by £1,917,266 or 18%. 
Further details of the movements in income and expenditure over the year are provided below: 
  
Incoming resources 

Incoming resources increased by £955,038 to £8,576,487. 
 
Income from donations, grants and legacies rose by £115,956, primarily due to the success of the College Heritage Appeal 
launched in 2019 to secure funds to support future exhibitions. 
 
Income from charitable activities was up by £728,118 due to the following: 
 

 Subscriptions income was rose by £99,143 due to an increase in net intake of Members and Fellows. 
 

 Examination income was up by £237,024 due to higher returns from the MRCP (UK) written examinations and an 
increase in candidates taking the clinical examination (PACES) through Edinburgh.   

 

 Education and training income grew overall by £395,520. Income from symposia and courses rose by £193,310 
with strong attendance at the RCPE Acute and General Internal Medicine courses and Edinburgh International 
Course in Medicine for the Older Adult. Following the launch of the Quality Governance Collaborative, the first 
fellowship course generated income of £58,016.    Income generated through Federation training activities also 
increased due to higher enrolment in UK training programmes and following the establishment of a number of 
international partnerships for curriculum delivery.  

 
Income from trading activity rose by £90,992 responding to the first full year of trading following the completion and opening 
of the refurbished Physicians’ International Conference Centre.  
 
Income from investments rose by 7% and in line with revenue expectations agreed as part of the investment policy.  
 
Resources expended 

Costs across all funds were down by £1,917,266 to £8,582,995. 
 
Expenditure on raising funds increased by £152,838 reflecting a full year of trading following the opening of the refurbished 
Physicians’ International Conference Centre. Direct costs incurred in relation to letting of the rooms and facilities rose by 
£40k.  
Overall, expenditure from charitable activities was down by £2,070,104 compared with spend levels in the previous year 
which had included substantial costs associated with the refurbishment of the Physicians’ International Conference Centre 
(see Note 7).  Excluding this exceptional movement, expenditure on core charitable activities rose overall by £854,624 due 
to the following:  

 

 Education and training costs rose by £555,457 following the award of two new JMAS Sim fellowships, at a value of 
£255,901, the launch of the Quality Governance Collaborative, which incurred costs of £66,770 and increased 
investment in new research programmes by the Scottish Health Action on Alcohol Problems (SHAAP) team.  
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 Support costs rose across all core charitable activities by £470,943. This increase was driven by additional staff 
costs; higher travel costs in support of presidential visits to Members and Fellows overseas higher legal and 
professional fees and an increased spend on marketing of College services and facilities.  

 

Underlying salary costs rose by £348,140 to just over £3m in part due to a 1.5% cost of living rise but also an agreed rise in 
employer pension contributions for all staff from 7% to 9%.   
 
Balance Sheet 

Despite a significant commitment of cash reserves in support of the re-development of the Physicians’ International 
Conference Centre, cash balances remain strong. Net current assets across all funds (see note 17) also remain solid and 
ensure the College is well placed to meet future financial commitments. 
 
During the year, RCPE contributed £231k to the Federation IT project. The Federation IT project is anticipated to cost 
£2.1m with all partners having equal ownership of the asset once completed.  
 
Federation  

The Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) signed by all three physicians’ Colleges on 21st December 2018 required 
Federation to deliver a set of non-statutory financial statements from the 2019 financial year onward. These should 
comprise a profit and loss account and balance sheet and should be independently audited. 
 
In December 2020, Shipleys LLP were appointed to conduct the audit of the financial statements and a review of the 
suitability of the Memorandum of Agreement and levels of compliance.  This has now been completed.  As this was a non-
statutory audit, Shipleys did not provide an audit opinion but did identify areas of weakness of financial management and 
governance making recommendations for improvement.  
 
The audit confirmed that the Royal College of Physicians of London owed Federation cash of £5m at 31st December 2019.  
This is at odds with the MOA that states that any funds collected by Colleges on behalf of Federation will be transferred to 
the Federation bank account quarterly with interest applicable if this is not done. Council in accordance with charity law and 
their duties as charity trustees must investigate how such a position could have arisen and any immediate and historic 
benefits gained by the London College by holding this debt to Federation. This investigation should identify how long the 
funds have been held and how they were used. 
 
Notwithstanding that the Shipleys audit was not a full statutory audit, no material audit errors or misstatements were 
identified 
 
Prior to this financial year, the College reflected its share of income and expenditure generated through Federation in its 
accounts.  From this financial year, the accounts also include details of the assets and liabilities held by Federation.  Further 
details of Federation results and the impact on College accounts can be found in note 21. In future years, assets and 
liabilities will be consolidated into the accounts. 
 
Investment policy and performance 

Investments are held as part of a portfolio managed by Adam & Company Investment Management Ltd. The Trustees have 
instructed them to invest to maximise total return on all funds within the constraints of a medium risk investment portfolio. 
This includes a bias towards companies with strong balance sheets and visible, reliable earnings. The current investment 
brief encourages a diversified profile for the portfolio designed to generate an agreed revenue target of around £300,000 
per annum but also provide for capital growth. The ethical criteria prohibit investment in companies that manufacture 
tobacco. The portfolio is diversified across fixed interest and equity asset classes. 
 
Headlines in year across the portfolio include: 
 

 Despite a slowdown in global growth due to economic and political uncertainties, markets had a positive year with 
solid returns across all asset classes underpinned by continued earnings growth at companies and support 
provided by central banks. The portfolio total return after fees was 12.05% versus a benchmark of 10.29%. 

 

 Fixed interest assets held in the portfolio were positioned defensively and consequently underperformed the 
market, with a 6.2% total return against market returns from government and investment grade bonds of 10.1% 
and 12.1% respectively. The portfolio continues to hold fixed income assets for diversification and for the income 
yield available on corporate bonds. 

 

 Total return for equities was 13.6% during the year, versus a benchmark of 10.9%. European investments held in 
the portfolio returned 16.3% and UK investments 13.2%, both ahead of benchmarks. Funds held in the US 
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performed well, despite a cautious approach and being underweight in the technology sector. At the end of the 
period, 71.7% of the portfolio was invested in equities. 

 

 Equities continue to be the preferred asset class for investors with a long-term time horizon. Income offered by 
government bonds remains low although they represent a useful diversifier to offset equity market volatility. 

 
The value of investments held by the College at the period end was £11,664,383 (2019: £10,719,833). Income received in 
the financial year was £336,835 (2019: £313,261). 
 
Looking forward, the Trustees are exploring a change of investment policy to place more emphasis on capital growth to 
reconstitute capital funds utilised by the College in recent years and to support sustainable investment with a particular 
focus on eco-friendly stocks.  
 
Reserves  

The College has a balance of unrestricted reserves as at 31 January 2020 of £8,855,765 (2019: £7,193,741). Unrestricted 
reserves include fixed assets and investments of £7,617,823 leaving free reserves of £1,237,942 (see note 17). These are 
held as general and designated reserves and comprise the value of assets and investments derived from past and current 
unrestricted operating results. 
 
An unrestricted revaluation reserve of £2,184,675 (2019: £644,675) is maintained in respect of heritable property which was 
valued at £6m as at 31st January 2020 (see note 11). The revaluation reserve increased by £1,540,000 during 2020 as a 
result of this property valuation. 
 
The College currently holds unrestricted reserves of between one and two times, its annual unrestricted operating costs. 
Despite the impact of COVID-19 on operations during 2020, the College continues to hold adequate reserves with no 
unease in respect of its status as going concern.  
 
Unrestricted reserves exclude restricted funds of £1,356,995 (2019: £1,397,826) and endowment funds of £10,581,353 
(2019: £9,724,505), most of which are used to support specific purposes attributed to those funds only.  
 
Assets held as custodian 

The College acts as custodian of funds for activities delivered on behalf of the Scottish Academy of Medical Royal Colleges 
and the Senior Fellows Club. The funds held as cash at bank by the College as at 31 January 2020 totalled £14,971 (2019: 
£37,829). For further information, see note 14. 
 
Risk management 

The Charity Trustees of the College have implemented processes by which they review, identify and assess major strategic 
risks and ensure that controls have been put in place, where necessary, to mitigate those risks. Operational risks are 
identified by the senior management team and reported regularly to Council for discussion and approval. Responsibility for 
day-to-day risk management is delegated to the senior management team and associated Office Bearers of the College. A 
new risk management framework has been established which requires departments to maintain local risk registers with 
clear escalation thresholds for reporting to Council. Risk management is a standing item on Council agendas with top risks 
summarised for Trustees including those arising from shared activities through Federation. Reports include pre and post 
mitigation scoring and corrective action along with the direction of change. 
 
Areas of significant risk reported to Council during 2019 include: 
 

 The likelihood of a “no deal” Brexit and the economic and political turbulence that could result in the UK leading to 
the prospect of a Scottish vote for independence. 

 

 Continue reliance on Federation returns and failure to identify and secure new sources of income.  
 

 Reputational loss due to slow adoption of IT and digital developments. 

 

Remedial action to mitigate or remove these risks primarily focused on maintaining a strong presence at the heart of 
Federation, supporting its programme of process improvement and ensuring it operates to the benefits of all partners. 
Exploration of new strategic partnerships and work streams has continued to identify opportunities to improve the business 
resilience of the College. Work to develop a digital strategy has progressed with the appointment of a Digital Transformation 
Lead who has commenced work on assessing the digital needs of internal and external customers and how these can be 
met through improved systems, processes and training. 
 
During the early part of 2020, the following risks emerged due to the effects of the pandemic and in respect of Federation: 
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 Unresolved financial and governance concerns over Federation activities which could impact on the sustainability 
of a primary source of income, the long term relationship of the College with key partners and the financial 
propriety of the College as a charity.  

  

 The immediate threat to the financial stability of the College from the operational and economic consequences of 
COVID-19 and the impact this could have on the ability of the College to meet the current and future needs of our 
membership    

 
Remedial actions to address these risks have included agreement with our Federation partners to appoint of an 
independent auditor to conduct a non-statutory examination of the financial results and governance arrangements of 
Federation.  The College has also made use of government support for business including the furlough scheme and has 
reorganised the management and staff structure to reduce the operational cost base of the College. 

 
 
Future plans and events subsequent to the year end 
 
Future plans for the College in 2020 have been greatly affected by the impact of the COVID-19 over the period. This section 
summarises the original plans and intentions for the forthcoming year, how these were affected by the impact of the 
pandemic in early 2020 and the subsequent response of the College. 

 
Education and Training 

With many departments in College now running educational events, the College will focus on the standards and quality 
control across all, and will ensure that the Director of Education and education committees have oversight of all 
programmes.  We will continue to ensure that we offer a comprehensive programme of education for all specialties and 
career stages, and that the full diversity of our Fellowship is represented on our committees and in our programmes. 
 
During 2020, the College moved swiftly to deliver all educational events online, developing a virtual programme which 
supported physicians of all professions and at all grades as well as catering for the needs of medical students.  
 
Examinations 

A full programme of written and clinical examinations was proposed for 2020 supported by the introduction of the new 
format of the clinical examination, PACES 2020, following a major overhaul. In the event both, the written and clinical 
(PACES) examinations were temporarily postponed in the early part of 2020 as a consequence of the rising effects of the 
global pandemic. 
  
All written examination were successfully restarted but on a smaller scale in autumn 2020 with additional infection control 
measures and amendments to the method of delivery.  This saw a small cohort of candidates take the examination online. 
 
The clinical examination was also successfully restarted in autumn 2020 but at a reduced capacity due to COVID-19 
restrictions and additional infection control measures to ensure the exams were delivered safely. Capacity was also affected 
by limited availability of clinical facilities, patients and examiners. The introduction of PACES 2020 has now been delayed 
until 2022. 
 
Looking further forward, a key priority is to increase clinical exam capacity as restrictions ease and clinical facilities, patients 
and examiners become more available. This will help address the current back log of candidates wishing to take the clinical 
examination. 
 
Membership 

The primary aim for the membership teams was to focus activities on increasing engagement with active Fellows and 
Members (and through that retention) supported by the wider activities of the College. Recruitment goals were to be 
supported by work to closely align the role of the Vice Presidents with development activities. Recruitment goals sought to 
focus on Associate Membership to broaden the appeal of the College and its activities across this identified area of potential 
growth. 
 
As the pandemic hit, a number of the activities were put on hold. The UK conference programme was cancelled, work to 
support specialist societies was reduced as their events and activities were curtailed and the Mentoring for Medics 
programme put the recruitment of mentors on hold as face-to-face training was cancelled. The Membership services team 
refocused on delivering engagement activities with an emphasis on supporting the international regional advisors network 
and providing targeted information for Fellows and Members to assist them through the professional and personal 
challenges of working as frontline medics during a pandemic. Examples include: 
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 The Recently Appointed Consultants Committee (RAC) held two successful evening meetings covering the topics 
of pensions, clinical management, the virtual consultation and the use of social media in clinical practise. Over 
1,000 attended with overwhelmingly positive feedback and there were 6-700 post event views. 

 

 The RAC and membership teams identified and tested appropriate online mentor training for Medics to ensure 
continued on-boarding of Mentors to the Enhance programme. The RAC also developed and started delivering 
PACES feedback training for Associate Regional Advisors (ARA) as an important recruitment initiative. 
 

 As well as continuing the successful EMU programme, the Trainee and Members Committee (TMC) initiated a new 
podcast series, first under the title “COVID conversations” and later broadening the concept to “Clinical 
conversation”. They also continued to represent trainees and members at national level on issues ranging from lost 
training opportunities, ARCP outcomes for trainees, PPE shortage, IMT3 recruitment, to the online examination 
format of PACES under COVID-19. 

.  

 The College has maintained strong regional engagement in the UK with its Regional Advisors (RA) meetings 
running on a fortnightly basis throughout the pandemic, sharing experiences and best practice as well as receiving 
updates and information from the college on national issues. A structure of Associate Regional Advisors (ARA) has 
been established and has received training on providing feedback to PACES candidates. They have also 
developed a Near-Peer mentoring pilot for Grampian and Tayside 

 

 The Overseas Regional Advisors (OSRA) met with the senior executive throughout the year ensuring that the 
voices of the overseas members and fellows are heard. The membership department has been supporting local 
meetings for all RCPE members in overseas regions to develop increased engagement at a local level. 

 
In response, the intake of new members has been trending upwards throughout the year and recruitment of Student and 
Foundation members has been positive with a 46% increase.  A primary focus for the future will be supporting these future 
Fellows through the early stages of their careers. 
 
External Relations and Policy  

Policy work will continue to be informed by the views of our Fellows and Members. The College also intends to maintain and 
improve its engagement with governments and political stakeholders across the UK to ensure that the views of our Fellows 
and Members are fully represented. A key focus also remains improving the College media profile, to highlight its position 
on policy issues as well as key events. 
  
Work is also planned to increase our understanding of our Members and Fellows’ motivations for joining the College, their 
awareness of the various benefits we provide and the benefits they value. The research will also target non-members and 
lapsed members. The findings of the research will be used to inform the College’s key messaging and marketing 
approaches.   
 
During the pandemic the External Relations and Policy team, working with colleagues across the College, has carried out a 
range of activities to support Fellows, Members and the healthcare profession: 
 

 communicating the voice of its Fellows and Members to a public audience on a range of topics including stock 
levels and suitability of personal protective equipment (PPE), COVID-19 testing for NHS staff, end of life care, 
future pandemic planning, COVID-19 vaccination priority, and COVID-19 public health messaging. This work was 
undertaken either independently or in collaboration with the Academy of Medical Royal Colleges and the Scottish 
Academy of Medical Royal Colleges and Faculties.  

 

 the College worked particularly closely with the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Glasgow, and with 
the Royal College of Surgeons of Edinburgh to present a united medical voice on issues raised by the pandemic 
and submitted responses to a number of Scottish Parliament and UK Parliament inquiries. 

 
The marketing and design team have worked to promote information and College activity to our Fellows and Members, 
stakeholders and the general public:   
 

 The team established the COVID-19 Hub on the College website to share important information from our partners 
and agencies, including Public Health England and the Federation of the Royal Colleges of Physicians of the UK, 
and the latest information, research and advice relating to COVID as it developed. The Hub promoted and directed 
visitors to register for the COVID-19 talks and to watch the latest content on the Education Portal.  

 

 Email marketing remains our primary method of communication with Fellows and Members and has kept our 
audiences fully informed and engaged. The Acting President has remained in regular contact with all Fellows and 
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Members during the pandemic and has promoted COVID-19 evening meetings and international updates with 
perspectives from around the world. 

 
Heritage  

The College set out to engage fresh audiences through the development of new heritage activities and resources. Two 
exhibitions were due to be launched in the Physicians’ Gallery in 2020; ‘Physicians Flowers’ between March and October 
and the ‘History of Forensics’ commencing in October. Both exhibitions were subsequently postponed as a result of the 
pandemic. The delivery of the ‘Museum in a Box’ resource for schools has also been delayed as business supporting the 
design and development process have been closed. These innovative, educational tools for school are now expected to be 
available from May 2021. 
  
The focus of heritage activities has moved to projects developed and delivered remotely and an online resource which 
contains digitised collections, interviews and school activities all relating to remote and rural medicine is in development.  
 
Quality Governance Collaborative 

The Quality Governance Collaborative sought to recruit a third cohort of the fellowship course programme during 2020. A 
fellowship programme tailored to individual health boards was also planned and health board reviews were expected to 
progress. The College also planned to build and reinforce links with the World Health Organisation (WHO) to deliver 
initiatives on healthcare governance. 
 
COVID-19 required us to postpone some face-to face modules for the second cohort of the QGC Fellowship course and 
move them to a virtual format. Recruitment for the third cohort has taken place but with a postponed start dated of May 
2021. The tailored health board fellowship has started and will complete in 2021, and the second health board review will 
also complete in that period. Engagement with WHO has continued but the programme of work proposed will now take 
place later than expected. 
 
Infrastructure 

The College had planned to progress its two primary development projects in 2020.  
 
The Fellows and Members Lounge had reached pre-tender stage, however, during to rising costs and the potential risk of 
the emerging pandemic it was decided to put this development on hold. Similarly, planning work had progressed on 
‘Building a Digital College’ but in the light of the growing financial risks, it was agreed that these should be reassessed and 
reduced.  Furthermore, the Digital Transformation Lead was re-tasked to support membership services following managerial 
changes across the Senior Management Team.  
 
A 5 year plan for growth in for venue letting, commercial tenants and bedroom accommodation was planned from 2020 with 
the objective to grow income to £1m over the next 5 years. Expectations were that we would achieve our strongest results 
in recent years with income from letting of facilities and rooms reaching £0.5m. 
 
The impact of COVID-19 on the letting business has been dramatic with a significant and material downturn in income from 
face-to face events.  However, the College adapted quickly using its expertise in delivering remote educational events to 
pivot the business towards a virtual offering. This has proven popular with medical bodies, such as Parkinsons UK as well 
as Professional Conference Organisers (PCOs) and specialist societies. A further pivot to hybrid events is currently 
underway which will make the best use of the space, technology and resources available to the College.  
 
Although COVID-19 has set back progress towards our 5-year growth plan we anticipate this plan will still be achievable by 
2025. The outlook towards the end of 2021 and into 2022 is looking positive and our reputation within the Edinburgh and UK 
market is strong.  
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Council’s responsibilities 
 
Council is responsible for preparing the Annual Report and Accounts in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 
 
The law applicable to charities in Scotland requires Council to prepare accounts for each financial year, which give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the charity and of the incoming resources and application of resources of the charity 
for that period. In preparing these accounts, Council is required to: 
 

 select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently; 

 observe the methods and principles in the Charities Statement of Recommended Practice (FRS102); 

 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

 state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any departures disclosed and 
explained in the financial statements; and 

 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charity 
will continue in operation. 

 
Council is responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the charity and enable it to ensure that the accounts comply with the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005, the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) and the provisions of the various 
trust deeds and the Royal Charter of Incorporation. The applicable law also sets out Council’s responsibilities for the 
preparation and content of the Annual Report. Council is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charity and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

 
Council is charged with the maintenance and integrity of the charity and financial information included on the charity’s 
website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 

legislation in other jurisdictions. 
 
Approved by the Council of the College on the 26th April 2021 and signed on its behalf by: 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
Acting President: Professor Angela Thomas 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Fellows and Members of the  
Royal College of Physicians of Edinburgh 

 
 
Opinion on accounts 

We have audited the accounts of the Royal College of Physicians of Edinburgh for the year ended 31 January 
2020 which comprise the Statement of Financial Activities, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, and the 
related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice). 
 
In our opinion the accounts: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the charity’s affairs as at 31 January 2020 and of its incoming 
resources and application of resources, for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and regulation 8 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as 
amended). 

 
Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the accounts section of our report. We are independent of the charity in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the accounts in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Who we are reporting to 

This report is made solely to the Fellows and Members, as a body, in accordance with section 44(1)(c) of the 
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and regulation 10 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended).  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Fellows and 
Members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose.  To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charity and 
the Fellows and Members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where: 
 

 the Council’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the accounts is not 
appropriate; or 

 

 the Council has not disclosed in the accounts any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant 
doubt about the charity’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at 
least twelve months from the date when the accounts are authorised for issue. 

 
Other information 

The Council is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 
the Annual Report other than the accounts and our auditor’s report thereon.  Our opinion on the accounts does 
not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the accounts, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the accounts or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the accounts or 
a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.  
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 

 
 



 

17 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Fellows and Members of the  
Royal College of Physicians of Edinburgh (continued) 
 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 require us to report to you if, in our opinion: 
 

 the information given in the accounts is inconsistent in any material respect with the trustees’ report; or 
 

 proper accounting records have not been kept; or 
 

 the accounts are not in agreement with the accounting records; or 
 

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
 
Responsibilities of Council 

As explained more fully in the Council’s Responsibilities Statement set out on page 15, the Council is responsible 
for the preparation of accounts which give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Council 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the accounts, the Council is responsible for assessing the charity’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the Council either intend to liquidate the charity or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the accounts 

We have been appointed as auditor under section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) 
Act 2005 and report in accordance with regulations made under that Act. 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the accounts as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these accounts. 
 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the accounts is located on the Financial Reporting 
Council’s website at http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s 
report. 
 
Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the Council, as a body, in accordance with Regulation 10 of the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Council those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charity and the Council as a 
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
 
 
 
 
CHIENE + TAIT LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor 
61 Dublin Street 
Edinburgh  
EH3 6NL 

 
                         28 April 2021  
 

Chiene + Tait LLP is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities


Total Total
Restricted Endowment funds Restricted Endowment funds

General Designated funds funds 2020 General Designated funds funds 2019
Notes £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Income and endowments from:

Donations, grants and legacies 2 13,712 -                  330,246 -                   343,958 36,090 -                 191,912         -                 228,002
Charitable activities 3 7,300,307 -                  134,327 -                   7,434,634 6,564,793 -                 141,723         -                 6,706,516
Other trading activities 4 434,557 -                  -                 -                   434,557 343,565 -                 -                 -                 343,565
Investments 5 30,396 15,669 317,273 -                   363,338 33,483 14,062 295,822         -                 343,366

Total income 7,778,973 15,669 781,845 -                   8,576,487 6,977,931 14,062 629,457 -                 7,621,450

Expenditure on:

Raising funds 6 634,834 960 40,511 -                   676,304 484,258 820 38,389 -                 523,467
Charitable activities 7 7,099,259 77,860 729,571 -                   7,906,690 6,227,579 2,403,243 1,345,973 -                 9,976,794

Total expenditure 7,734,093 78,820 770,082 -                   8,582,995 6,711,837 2,404,062 1,384,362 -                 10,500,262

1
8.

Net income/(expenditure) before gains 
and losses on investments 44,879 (63,150) 11,763 -                   (6,508) 266,095 (2,390,001) (754,905) -                 (2,878,812)

Net realised (losses)/gains on investments 12 5,931 1,787 -                 75,409              83,128 (1,617) (487) -                 (20,556) (22,660)
Net unrealised (losses)/gains on investments 12 61,461 18,521 -                 781,439            861,421 (30,665) (9,241) -                 (389,891) (429,797)
Gain on revalution 11 1,540,000 - -                 - 1,540,000 - - -                 - -                   

Net income/(expenditure) 1,652,272 (42,842) 11,763 856,848 2,478,041 233,812 (2,399,729) (754,905) (410,447) (3,331,269)

Transfers between funds 17 (d) (112,535) 165,129 (52,594) - - (1,135,687) 1,170,006 85,681 (120,000) -

Net movement in funds 1,539,737 122,287 (40,831) 856,848 2,478,041 (901,875) (1,229,723) (669,224) (530,447) (3,331,269)

Reconciliation of funds:
Total funds brought forward 17 6,158,964 1,034,777 1,397,826 9,724,505 18,316,071 7,060,839 2,264,500      2,067,050      10,254,952    21,647,342

Total funds carried forward 17 7,698,701 1,157,064 1,356,995 10,581,353 20,794,114 6,158,964 1,034,777 1,397,826 9,724,505 18,316,071

Unrestricted funds Unrestricted funds

Statement of Financial Activities 
for the year ended 31 January 2020

The net movement in funds includes exceptional building costs in year of £113,074 (2019: £2,958,831). See note 7.

The Statement of Financial Activities includes all gains and losses in the year and all incoming resources and resources expended derive from continuing activities. The notes on pages 21 to 39 form part of these accounts.



Total Total
Notes funds funds

2020 2019

Fixed assets £ £

Tangible fixed assets 11 6,303,785 4,781,251
Investments 12 a 11,664,383 10,719,833
Other Investments 12 b 231,008 0

Total Fixed Assets 18,199,176 15,501,084

Current assets
Stocks 25,926 26,275
Debtors 13 1,602,380 1,727,969
Cash at bank and in hand 19 4,124,723 4,279,594

5,753,029 6,033,838

14 (2,789,125) (2,977,121)

Net current assets 2,963,904 3,056,717

Total assets less current 
liabilities 21,163,080 18,557,801

15 (368,967) (241,729)

Net assets 20,794,114 18,316,071

Unrestricted funds 17 6,671,090 6,549,065
Restricted funds 17c 1,356,995 1,397,826
Endowment funds 17b 10,581,353 9,724,505
Unrestricted revaluation reserve 17 2,184,675 644,675

Total funds 17 20,794,114 18,316,071

Approved by the Council of the College on 26th April 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Acting President:  Professor Angela Thomas

Treasurer: Dr Kathleen White 

Balance Sheet 
as at 31 January 2020

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Creditors: amounts falling due after one year

The notes on pages 21 to 39 form part of these accounts.
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2020 2019
£ £ £

Notes

Net cash used in operating activities 18 (174,724) (2,905,836)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Dividends, interest and rents from investments 363,338 343,367
Purchase of property, plant & equipment (112,477) (330,695)
Purchase of investments (1,445,657) (1,437,668)
Proceeds from sale of investments 1,123,522 1,362,572
Net cash provided by investing activities (71,273) (62,424)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Receipt of endowment -                -                
Net cash provided by financing activities -                -                

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year 19 (245,998) (2,968,260)

Cash and cash equivalent brought forward 4,712,789 7,681,049

Cash and cash equivalents carried forward 19 4,466,791 4,712,789

Statement of Cashflows
for the year ended 31 January 2020

The notes on pages 21 to 39 form part of these accounts.
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1 Statement of accounting policies 
 

a) Basis of preparation of financial statements and assessment of going concern 

 

The financial statements of the College are prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended 

Practice: Accounting and Reporting by Charities preparing their accounts in accordance with Financial 

Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) issued on 16 July 2014 and 

Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), the 

Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 

2006 (as amended). 

 

The College is a public benefit entity as defined by FRS 102. 

 

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention with items recognised at cost or 

transaction value unless otherwise stated in the relevant notes to these accounts. The following paragraphs 

describe the specific policies adopted for recognition of significant categories of incoming resources and of 

expenditure. 

 

The accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. Council has assessed the ability of the College 

to continue as a going concern and have reasonable expectation that it has adequate resources to continue 

in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of 

accounting in preparing the accounts. 
 

b) Fund structure 

 
The College has a number of endowment funds and restricted funds to account for situations where a donor 

requires that a donation must be used for a particular purpose or where funds have been raised for a specific 

purpose. All other funds are unrestricted funds. Funds held in each of these categories are disclosed in note 

17. 

 

Unrestricted funds are available for use at the discretion of the Council in furtherance of general objects of 

the College. 

 

Designated funds are unrestricted funds earmarked by the Council for particular purposes. 

 

Restricted funds are subject to restrictions on their expenditure imposed by the donor or funder. 

 

Endowment funds are invested in investments, the income from which, are used for the normal operation of 

the College, and must be spent in accordance with the terms of the endowment. This income, and related 

expenditure, is accounted for within restricted funds. Realised and unrealised gains or losses are accumulated 

within endowment funds which are regarded as permanent. 

 

c) Significant judgements and estimation uncertainty 

 
In the application of the College’s accounting policies, Council are required to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 

sources. As the estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors 

that are considered to be relevant, actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and 

underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below. 

(i) Useful economic lives of tangible assets 

The annual depreciation charge for tangible assets is sensitive to changes in the estimated useful 

economic lives and residual values of the assets. The useful economic lives and residual values are re-

assessed annually. They are amended when necessary to reflect current estimates, based on 

technological advancement, future investments, economic utilisation and the physical condition of the 

assets. See note 11 for carrying amounts of tangible assets. 
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d) Income 

 

All income is included in the Statement of Financial Activities when the College is entitled to the income, the 

amount can be quantified with reasonable accuracy, and receipt is probable.  The following specific policies 

are applied to particular categories of income. 

 

Admission fees and subscription income 

 
Income from admission fees is recognised on admission and subscriptions are recognised over the period to 

which they relate. Amounts relating to subscription periods falling after the year end are deferred into the next 

accounting period. 

 

Donations and Legacies 

 
Donations are recognised when the College has been notified in writing of both the amount and settlement 

date. In the event that a donation is subject to conditions that require a level of performance before the College 

is entitled to the funds, the income is deferred and not recognised until either those conditions are fully met, 

or the fulfilment of those conditions is wholly within the control of the College and it is probable that those 

conditions will be fulfilled in the reporting period. 

 

Legacy gifts are recognised on a case by case basis following when the administrator/executor for the estate 

has communicated in writing both the amount and settlement date.  Receipt of a legacy, in whole or in part, 

is only considered probable when the amount can be measured reliably and the College has been notified of 

the executor’s intention to make a distribution. In the event that the gift is in the form of an asset other than 

cash or a financial asset traded on a recognised stock exchange, recognition is subject to the value of the gift 

being reliably measurable with a degree of reasonable accuracy and the title to the asset having been 

transferred to the College. 

 

Grants receivable 

 

Grants received are reflected in the Statement of Financial Activities when relevant conditions for entitlement 

have been met, it is probable they will be received, and the amounts can be quantified with sufficient reliability. 

Where donors specify that grants are for particular purposes, this income is included in incoming resources 

within restricted funds when receivable. Grants of a revenue nature are credited to the Statement of Financial 

Activities in the period to which they relate. Grant income with specific restrictions on utilisation in terms of 

timing or service provision is deferred in accordance with the terms provided by the donor as appropriate. 

 

Grants are split into two categories within the Statement of Financial Activities. Grants with specific 

performance criteria, and of a contractual nature, are included in Income from Charitable Activities and grants 

of a general voluntary nature are included under the heading Donations, grants and legacies. 

Examination income 

 

Examination income represents exam fees received in respect of exam sittings during the financial year.  Any 

fees received in respect of exams sittings after the year end are treated as examination fees in advance and 

deferred into the subsequent accounting period. 

Course and event income 

 

Income from courses and events represents fees received in respect of educational courses or training events 

undertaken in the financial year. Any fees received in respect of courses taking place after the year end are 

deferred into the next accounting period. 

Investment income 

 
Interest on funds held on deposit is included when receivable and the amount can be measured reliably by 

the College; this is normally upon notification of the interest paid or payable by the bank. Dividends are 

recognised once the dividend has been declared and notification has been received of the dividend due.  
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e) Expenditure 

 

Resources expended are recognised on an accruals basis when a legal or constructive obligation to pay 

arises committing the College to that expenditure; it is probable that settlement will be required and that the 

amount of the obligation can be measured reliably. They are shown under the appropriate category. The 

irrecoverable element of VAT is allocated to the related individual cost. 

 

Costs of raising funds 

 

These comprise the costs associated with raising voluntary income, the costs relating to fundraising and the 

costs of managing investments for both income generation and capital maintenance. 

 

Charitable expenditure 

 

Charitable expenditure comprises those costs incurred by the College in undertaking its work to meet its 

charitable objectives. It includes costs that can be allocated directly to such activities together with those 

support costs incurred that enable these activities to be undertaken. 

 

Governance costs 

 

Governance costs are those costs associated with meeting the constitutional and statutory requirements of 

the College and include the audit fees and costs linked to the strategic management of the College. 

  

Basis of allocation of costs 

 

All costs are allocated between the expenditure categories on a basis which best reflects the use of the 

resources. Costs, including governance costs, relating to a particular activity are allocated directly, others are 

apportioned to cost categories based on an estimated amount attributable to that activity in the year.  The 

relative attribution of costs to charitable and other cost centres is reviewed annually.  

 

Federation activities 

 

Income and costs relating to activities delivered collaboratively as part of the Federation of Royal Colleges of 

Physicians are accounted for as a joint arrangement and disclosed within appropriate income and cost 

categories within notes 3 and 7 to the accounts. 

 

Grants payable 

 

Grants payable are payments made to third parties in the furtherance of the charitable objectives of the 

College. The grants are accounted for where the College has agreed to pay the grant without condition and 

the recipient has a reasonable expectation that they will receive a grant, or any condition attaching to the 

grant is outside the control of the College. 

 

In the case of an unconditional grant offer this is accrued once the recipient has been notified of the grant 

award. The notification gives the recipient a reasonable expectation that they will receive the 1 year or multi-

year grant.  

 

Provisions for grants are made when the intention to make a grant has been communicated to the recipient 

but there is uncertainty as to the timing of the grant or the amount of grant payable.  

 

The provision for a multi-year grant is recognised at its present value where settlement is due over more than 

1 year from the date of the award, there are no unfulfilled performance conditions under the control of the 

College that would permit it to avoid making the future payment(s), settlement is probable and the effect of 

discounting is material. The discount rate used is the average rate of investment yield in the year in which the 

grant award is made. This discount rate is regarded by Council as providing the most current available 

estimate of the opportunity cost of money reflecting the time value of money to the College. 

 

f) Tangible fixed assets 

 
Fixed assets are initially recognised at cost, and depreciated over their useful economic life, taking into 

account any residual value of the assets. 
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Heritable property and land 

 

The heritable property of the College is carried at fair value. It is also considered to have a high residual value. 

The depreciation charge is immaterial and no charge has therefore been made. Where no charge for 

depreciation is made, an impairment review should be carried out on an annual basis. Such a review has 

been performed and this shows that the fair value of the property is equal to the carrying value in the financial 

statements. 

 

Land is not depreciated. 

 

Heritable property has not been divided into investment property and property held for operational use as the 

fair value of the investment property component cannot be measured reliably.  

 

Other fixed assets 

 

Individual assets or large groups of homogeneous assets costing more than £500 are capitalised and carried 

in the balance sheet at historical cost.  

 

Depreciation of assets is provided at rates calculated to write off the excess of cost over anticipated residual 

value evenly over the estimated useful economic lives of each class of assets, subject to annual review. 

Depreciation rates are currently as follows: 

 

 Fixtures and fittings   10-20% straight line 

 Computers and other equipment  25% straight line 

 Plant and machinery   10% straight line 

 

Heritage assets 

 

In addition to the capitalised fixed assets retained for the College’s own use, the College holds a substantial 

collection of unendowed heritage assets whose intrinsic value is bound up with the College's history. The 

principal collection is of medical books and manuscripts collectively known as the Sibbald Library Collection. 

The College also holds a modest collection of paintings and other artefacts. The heritage assets are held for 

preservation and to benefit medical knowledge and culture. 

 

Most of these assets are irreplaceable originals to which no reliable value can be attributed and therefore the 

Charity Trustees believe that the significant costs that would be incurred in assessing and maintaining a 

reliable valuation record would be disproportionate to the clarity derived. Accordingly, the assets have not 

been capitalised in the accounts. 

 

Governance rules applicable to the disposal of heritage assets are set out in the College Laws. Subject to 

recommendation from the Library Committee and approval of the Charity Trustees, the College can elect to 

dispose of items from the Sibbald Library Collection, although this would only happen in exceptional 

circumstances, for example, to generate funds to support the development of wider access to the historic 

collections of the College Library. 

 

Acquisitions are made by purchase or donation but are rare. Items acquired are capitalised only where the 

value can be determined and is deemed material. 

 

Further information is provided in note 11a. 

 

g) Investments 

 

Investments are accounted for at fair value, which is considered to be market value. Value is attributed to 

individual unrestricted and restricted funds on an unitisation basis. Net gains and losses arising on revaluation 

and disposal are shown in the Statement of Financial Activities. 

 

Investments are a form of basic financial instrument and are initially recognised at their transaction value and 

subsequently measured at their fair value as at the balance sheet date using the closing quoted market price.  

 

The College does not acquire put options, derivatives or other complex financial instruments. The main form 

of financial risk faced by the College is that of volatility in equity markets and investment markets due to wider 
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economic conditions, the attitude of investors to investment risk, and changes in sentiment concerning 

equities and within particular sectors or sub sectors. 

 

All gains and losses are taken to the Statement of Financial Activities as they arise. Realised gains and losses 

on investments are calculated as the difference between sales proceeds and opening carrying value 

(purchase date if later). Unrealised gains and losses are calculated as the difference between the fair values 

at the year end and their carrying value.  

 

h) Stock 

 
Stocks of mementoes and wine are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

 

i) Debtors 

 
Debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due. Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid net of 

any discounts due. 

 
j) Cash at bank and in hand 

 
Cash at bank and cash in hand includes cash and short-term highly liquid investments with a short maturity 

of 3 months or less from the date of acquisition or opening of the deposit or similar account. 

 

k) Creditors 

 
Creditors are recognised where the College has a present obligation resulting from a past event that will 

probably result in the transfer of funds to a third party and the amount due to settle the obligation can be 

measured or estimated reliably. Creditors are normally recognised at their settlement amount after allowing 

for any trade discounts due. 

 

l) Financial instruments 

 
The College only has financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind that qualify as basic financial 

instruments. Basic financial instruments other than investments are initially recognised at transaction value 

and subsequently measured at their settlement value. 

 

m) Pension scheme 

 
The College operates an employer-sponsored, defined contribution Group Personal Pension (GPP) Scheme. 

Contributions to this scheme are allocated to individual policies held separately from the College and which 

are administered by Scottish Widows. Pension costs are included in staff costs on the basis of contributions 

payable by the College.  

 

The aggregate value of contributions made to the pension scheme during the period amounted to £213,782 

(2019: £168,761). 

 



2 Donations, grants and legacies
2020 2019

£ £

Donations 84,605 20,367
Grants - non contractual 248,353 187,035
Bequests and legacies 11,000 20,600                  

343,958 228,002                

3 Income from charitable activities
2020 2019

£ £

Subscriptions 1,675,698 1,576,555
Examinations 3,949,284 3,712,260
Education and training 1,534,644 1,139,124
Grants 156,317 105,302
Other 118,691 173,275

7,434,634 6,706,516

4 Income from other trading activities
2020 2019

£ £

Letting of rooms and facilities 434,557 343,565

434,557 343,565

5 Income from investments 2020 2019

£ £

Portfolio derived income 336,835 313,261
Bank deposit income 26,503 30,106

363,338 343,366

Notes to the Accounts (continued)

for the year ended 31 January 2020

Examinations and education and training income figures shown above include revenue generated by the College through
assessment, specialist training and professional development activities delivered collaboratively by the Federation of Royal
Colleges of Physicians. The Federation generated income of £3.8m in the year (2019: £3.6m).
See note 21 for further details.
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6 Expenditure on raising funds Activities
undertaken Support Total Total

directly costs 2020 2019
£ £ £ £

Fundraising: cost of goods sold and other costs:
Letting of rooms and facilities 217,942 399,236 617,178 460,501
Investment management 44,211 14,915 59,127 62,966

262,153 414,151 676,304 523,467

7 Expenditure on charitable activities Activities
undertaken Support Total Total

directly costs 2020 2019
£ £ £ £

Membership services 664,633 483,356 1,147,990 946,682

Quality, Research and Standards 168,606 53,737 222,342 155,729
Heritage 325,574 140,313 465,887 537,134
Examinations 2,392,063 348,048 2,740,112 2,637,619
Education and Training 2,285,432 903,191 3,188,623 2,633,166
Other charitable activity 141,736 -                 141,736 3,066,465

5,978,045 1,928,646 7,906,690 9,976,795

8 Grant making activities

2020 2019

£ £
Tuition fees for 14 (2019: 13) students of the MSc Internal Medicine at the
University of Edinburgh 45,238 42,875
Tuition fees for 3 (2019: Nil) students of the MSc Critical Care at the
University of Edinburgh 7,755 -                    
JMAS Sim Fellowship at the University of Edinburgh - see note 15 255,901 -                    
Other bursaries and research related grants to individuals and institutions 11,750 12,000

320,644 54,875

Notes to the Accounts (continued)

for the year ended 31 January 2020

Included within Education and Training direct costs are grants made by the College during the year totalling £320,644
(2019: £54,875) from designated and endowed funds as follows:

Assessment, education and training expenditure figures shown above include resources expended by the College in
delivering examinations, specialist training and professional development activities collaboratively through the
Federation of Royal Colleges of Physicians. The Federation costs in the year amounted to £2.2m (2019: £2.3m). See
note 21 for further details.

Other charitable activity costs comprise the remaining construction costs of the new conference centre of £113,399
(2019: £2,880,179), other exceptional building costs totalling £17,761 (2019: £78,652) and costs relating to the
corporate administration of Federation activities of £10,576 (2019: £107,634).

Grant making activities are largely funded through income generated by core charitable activities.
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9 Allocation of Governance and Support costs Total Governance Other support
allocated related costs Total

2020 2019
£ £ £ £

Staff costs 1,450,292 175,455 1,274,837 1,248,542
Building upkeep, repairs and management 155,264 -               155,264 163,652
IT costs 69,098 -               69,098 59,344
Utilities 104,727 -               104,727 77,951
Travel and subsistence 131,161 -               131,161 57,759
Other general management overheads 368,204 183,380 184,824 231,251
Depreciation 64,052 5,734 58,317 33,355

2,342,797 364,569 1,978,228 1,871,854

Governance costs Activities

undertaken Indirect Total Total

directly costs 2020 2019

£ £ £ £

Staff costs -                175,455       175,455        151,047          
Auditors' fees 13,923          -               13,923          16,215            
Legal and professional fees 67,578          -               67,578          26,543            
Other -                107,613       107,613        75,536            

81,501          283,068       364,569        269,341          

10 Remuneration and related party transactions Unrestricted Restricted Total Total
funds funds 2020 2019

£ £ £ £

Wages and salaries 2,370,701 201,757 2,572,458 2,298,392
Social security costs 221,945 17,662 239,607 227,767
Pension costs - Defined contribution schemes 199,457 14,326 213,782 168,761
Training and other employee costs 67,157 -               67,157 49,944

2,859,260 233,745 3,093,004 2,744,864

Average number of  employees during the period:               84

The number of employees whose emoluments exceeded £60,000, excluding employer pension contributions, were:
       £60,000 - £69,999 3                     
       £70,000 - £79,999 1                     

Notes to the Accounts (continued)

for the year ended 31 January 2020

Total pension contributions in the year for employees whose emoluments exceed £60,000 were £33,840 - 4 employees
(2019: £47,488 - 5 employees).

The College considers its key management personnel comprise the Office Bearers, Chief Executive Officer and the
Deputy Chief Executive Officer. The total employment benefits including employer pension contributions of the key
management personnel were £225,183 (2019: £231,359).

No Trustee received any remuneration during the year. Reimbursement of travel expenses to 28 (2019: 23) Council
Members amounted to £80,273 (2019: £45,896). No Trustee or other person related to the College had any personal
interest in any contract or transaction entered into by the College during the year (2019: £Nil).

Support costs are apportioned to charitable activities using various bases of apportionment including square footage, staff
numbers and levels of activity, with the exact basis selected according to that which best reflects the use of resources.

 28.



11 Tangible fixed assets Computers Fixtures
Heritable and other Plant and and 
property equipment machinery fittings Total

£ £ £ £ £
Cost or valuation
1 February 2019 4,460,000 1,080,274 188,155 133,557 5,861,986
Additions -                 77,347 -              35,130 112,477
Disposals -                 (305,139)    -              (42,480)         (347,620)        
Revaluation 1,540,000   -          -          -             1,540,000   

31 January 2020 6,000,000 852,482 188,155 126,207 7,166,843

Accumulated depreciation
1 February 2019 -                 832,133 148,695 99,907 1,080,735
Charge for the year -                 114,559 7,893 7,491 129,943
Disposals -                 (305,140)    -              (42,480)         (347,620)     
31 January 2020 -                 641,552 156,588 64,918 863,058

Net book value at 31 January 2020 6,000,000 210,930 31,567 61,288 6,303,785

Net book value at 31 January 2019 4,460,000 248,141 39,460       33,650          4,781,251

11a Further information on the College collection of heritage assets

Notes to the Accounts (continued)

for the year ended 31 January 2020

The heritable property of the College was revalued by Graham and Sibbald on the 31st January 2020. They assessed the
market value with vacant possession to be £6,000,000. The depreciated historic cost of heritable property as at 31 January
2020 was £3,815,325 (2019: £3,815,325).

Sibbald Library collection

The Sibbald Library Collection, which comprises approximately 45,000 medical books and manuscripts, has been developed
over the last 330 years and is used for reference, research and education. The College occasionally makes available, on
loan, items from the collection to Fellows and Members of the College and other medical institutions. At any time,
approximately 50% of the Collection is on display. The remaining items are held in safe storage but access is permitted to
scholars and others for research purposes, and items from storage are occasionally made available for public viewing. The
College has made no disposals from its Library Collection in the last 5 years.

Management

The College has a long-established Library Committee which has responsibility for managing the College Collection on
behalf of the Charity Trustees. The policy for managing the Collection, including governance rules applicable to the disposal
of books, is set out in the College Laws.

The College maintains a catalogue of its Collection of medical books and manuscripts which records the nature, provenance
and current location of each asset. A manual record is complete but work remains ongoing to present the catalogue in an
electronic format and to the MARC international standard.

Investment in the electronic cataloguing process has been significant over recent years, with support provided from a range
of grant funders including the Wellcome Trust.

Preservation

Expenditure which, in the view of the Charity Trustees, is required to preserve or prevent further deterioration of the Library
Collection is recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities when it is incurred. The Library Collection is also insured for
the costs of repair, conservation and attempted recovery.

Paintings and other artefacts

The College maintains a complete photo and electronic record of modern and heritage paintings as well as similar records
for sculptures, busts and other artefacts. Library staff are charged with ensuring that items are maintained and preserved in
an appropriate condition.
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12 a Investments Unrestricted Endowment Total
£ £ £

Opening market value at 1 February 2019 955,107 9,331,532 10,286,639
Additions in year 112,779 1,101,870 1,214,649
Disposals in year (96,600) (943,795) (1,040,395)  
Unrealised gains during year 79,982 781,439 861,421
Closing market value at 31 January 2020 1,051,269 10,271,046 11,322,314
Investment cash balance 31,761 310,308 342,069

Closing portfolio valuation at 31 January 2020 1,083,029 10,581,354 11,664,383

Historical cost at year end 779,111 7,612,023 8,391,133

Fixed interest 72,784 711,113 783,897
UK debenture and loan stocks 163,717 1,599,540 1,763,257
UK equities 512,131 5,003,595 5,515,726
Investments and unit trusts 242,091 2,365,263 2,607,354
Overseas 60,545 591,535 652,080
Cash 31,761 310,308 342,069

1,083,029 10,581,354 11,664,383

12 b Other Investments 2020 2019
£ £

Federation IT Capital Project 231,008 -               
231,008 -               

During 2019 RCPE contributed £231,008 towards the Federation IT capital project. 

13 Debtors 2020 2019
£ £

Subscriptions and fees 137,008 164,312
Educational fee and grant debtors 497,224 436,041
Accrued income 167,071 139,316
Sundry debtors 637,540 827,759
Prepayments 156,651 150,253
VAT and tax debtor 6,886 10,288

1,602,380 1,727,969

Notes to the Accounts (continued)

for the year ended 31 January 2020

The investments of the College are held as part of a portfolio managed by Adam & Company Investment
Management Ltd. Value is attributed to individual unrestricted and endowment funds on an unitisation basis. At 31
January 2020, Twenty Four Global Investment Funds made up 5.49% of the total value of the College Portfolio.

All investments are carried at their fair value. Holdings in common investment funds, unit trusts and open-ended
investment companies are at the bid price. The basis of fair value for quoted investments is equivalent to the market
value, using the bid price. Asset sales and purchases are recognised at the date of trade at cost (that is their
transaction value).

The significance of financial instruments to the ongoing financial sustainability of the charity is considered in the
financial review and investment policy sections of the Annual Report.

The main risk to the charity from financial instruments lies in the continuing uncertainty regarding world economic
prospects leading to changeable investment markets and volatility in yield. The College manages these risks by
retaining experts advisors and operating an investment policy that provides a high degree of diversification of
holdings within investment asset classes. Furthermore, the portfolio does not make use of derivatives or other
complex financial instruments as it takes the view that investments are held for long-term return. Liquidity risk is
considered low as all investments are traded in quoted public markets, primarily the London Stock Exchange, with
good liquidity and trading volumes, and the College has no material holdings in markets subject to exchange control
or trading restrictions.
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14 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 2020 2019
£ £

Trade creditors 255,216 338,722
Other creditors and accruals 895,414 1,074,267
Social security and other taxation payable  68,301 64,632
Deferred income 1,570,194 1,499,500

2,789,125 2,977,121

Deferred Income

The movement in deferred income during the year is as follows:

Brought Utilised in Received & Received & Carried
Forward year deferred to deferred to Forward

31 Jan 2019 2020/21 future years 31 Jan 2020
£ £ £ £ £

Subscriptions 1,077,135 (1,077,135)   1,117,227 43,867 1,161,094
Events planned 179,977 (179,977)      145,583 36,860 182,443
Education income 372,003 (372,003)      250,223 162,339 412,562
Exam income 13,140 (13,140)        20,367 -                 20,367
Grant income 68,582 (68,582)        36,793 -                 36,793

1,710,837 (1,710,837)   1,570,193 243,066 1,813,259

15 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 2020 2019
£ £

Other creditors and accruals 125,901 30,392          
Deferred income 243,066 211,337        

368,967 241,729        

16 Contracts and commitments - operating leases 2020 2019
£ £

The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases are as follows:

Amounts due within 1 year 58,818 57,877          
Amounts due between 2 to 5 years 173,791 202,597        
Amounts due more than 5 years 97,189 127,200        

329,797 387,674        

During the year lease payments of £61,415  (2019: £33,508) were recognised as an expense to the College.

Notes to the Accounts (continued)

for the year ended 31 January 2020

The College hosts the offices of the Scottish Academy of Medical Royal Colleges and acts as the custodian of funds
employed in supporting the delivery of administrative services. The balance of funds held by the College at the year
end of £6,994 (2019: £27,575) is accounted for within other creditors and accruals. The College also acts as
custodian of funds for its Senior Fellows' Club. The year end balance of £7,977 (2019: £10,254) is also accounted for
within other creditors and accruals.

The deferred income above relates to subscriptions, events, exams, course and grant receipts relating to future
years.

Other creditors falling due after more than 1 year relate to funding for the JMAS Sim Fellowship at the University of
Edinburgh - see note 8.
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17 Analysis of College net assets Fixed Investments Net current Long-term Fund 
by fund in the current year (2020) assets assets liabilities balances 2020

£ £ £ £ £
Unrestricted funds 6,303,785 1,314,038 1,481,007 (243,066) 8,855,765
Endowment funds -                 10,581,353 -                 -                 10,581,353
Restricted funds -                 -                 1,482,896 (125,901)        1,356,995      

6,303,785 11,895,391 2,963,903 (368,967) 20,794,114

Analysis of College net assets Fixed Investments Net current Long-term Fund 
by fund in the previous year (2019) assets assets liabilities balances 2019

£ £ £ £ £

Unrestricted funds 4,781,251 995,328 1,628,499 (211,337) 7,193,741
Endowment funds -                9,724,505 -                -                9,724,505
Restricted funds -                -                1,428,218 (30,392)         1,397,826

4,781,251 10,719,833 3,056,717 (241,729) 18,316,072

17a Designated funds: movements Balance at Investment Balance at
 in the current year (2020) 31 Jan 2019 Income Expenditure Transfers losses 31 Jan 2020

£ £ £ £ £ £
Strategic Planning Fund 693,193 7,950 (11,055) (200,672) 10,145 499,561

Fabric Fund -                 1,846 (12,522) 199,789 -                 189,113

Innovation and Development Fund 341,584 5,874 (55,243) 166,012 10,163 468,390

1,034,777 15,670 (78,820) 165,129 20,308 1,157,064

Designation of the funds

Designated funds: movements Balance at Investment Balance at
in the previous year (2019) 31 Jan 2018 Income Expenditure Transfers gains 31 Jan 2019

£ £ £ £ £ £
Strategic Planning Fund 799,712 6,719 (107,999)       (379)              (4,860)           693,193
Fabric Fund 1,001,659 2,114 (2,003,431) 999,658        -                -                
Innovation and Development Fund 463,129        5,229            (292,633)       170,727        (4,868)           341,584

2,264,500 14,062 (2,404,063) 1,170,006 (9,728) 1,034,777

Notes to the Accounts (continued)

for the year ended 31 January 2020

The Council of the College has chosen to designate these funds as follows. Monies in the Strategic Planning Fund are earmarked to support
the Business Resilience Strategy of the College including Federated activity. The Innovation and Development Fund is intended to support
innovative projects which contribute to the development and recognition of the College and individual doctors. The Fabric Fund are
earmarked to suppport the development of the Fellows and Members Lounge.

Investments held as part of the Strategic Planning and Innovation and Development Funds form part of the College's investment portfolio,
managed by Adam & Company Investment Management Ltd. Investment income, gains and losses and related expenditure are allocated in
proportion to the value of investments held by each trust or fund.

Unrestricted funds, which include designated funds, are free for use by the Charity Trustees in accordance with the charitable objects of the
College. Endowment and restricted funds have purposes attached which, in general, are related to the provision of information to the public
and education for doctors in training and in practice. Over 90% of the expendable endowment funds, which have a total value of £2,813,070
at 31 January 2020, are available for use in support of the College's core charitable activities. Further details of the designated, endowment
and restricted funds held by the College can be found in notes 17a, 17b and 17c, respectively.

Also included within unrestricted funds is a revaluation reserve amounting to £2,184,675 (2019: £644,675) in relation to the College’s
heritable property as set out in note 11.
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17b Endowment funds: movements Balance at Transfers to/(from) Balance at
in current year (2020) 31 January Income Expenditure Restricted Investment 31 January 

2019 funds gains/(losses) 2020
£ £ £ £ £ £

Permanent endowments
W A Alexander Bequest 20,008 -          -              -                           1,763              21,771          
Freeland Barbour Fellowship 30,629 -          -              -                           2,699              33,328          
Alexander Black Bequest 5,552 -          -              -                           489                 6,041            
John Hamilton Brown Bequest 112,697 -          -              -                           9,930              122,627        
Sir James Cameron Bequest 9,895 -          -              -                           872                 10,767          
Clouston Memorial Trust 3,431 -          -              -                           302                 3,733            
Ghulam Mohi-Ud Din Trust 2,693 -          -              -                           237                 2,931            
George A Gibson Lectureship 755 -          -              -                           67                   821               
Verona Gow Bequest 99,193 -          -              -                           8,740              107,933        
Mohamed Haniffa Hamza Bequest 1,736 -          -              -                           153                 1,889            
Jessie MacGregor Prize 8,233 -          -              -                           725                 8,958            
James MacKenzie Medal 1,534 -          -              -                           135                 1,669            
Alexander Morison Fund 521 -          -              -                           46                   567               
Stelios Nicolaides Fund 1,135 -          -              -                           100                 1,235            
Hill Pattison-Struthers Bursaries 16,704 -          -              -                           1,472              18,176          
Robert Philip Memorial Lectureship 60,996 -          -              -                           5,374              66,370          
HRH Richards Bequest 6,810 -          -              -                           600                 7,410            
Miss Janet Reid Trust 48,437 -          -              -                           4,268              52,705          
Catherine Wedderburn Rintoul Fund 67,241 -          -              -                           5,925              73,166          
Russell Bequest 1,005,384 -          -              -                           88,587            1,093,971     
John Matheson Shaw Bequest 15,575 -          -              -                           1,372              16,947          
Myre Sim Bequest 1,204,472 -          -              -                           106,129          1,310,601     
JMAS Sim Fellowship 4,141,970 -          -              -                           364,958          4,506,928     
Sydney Watson Smith Bequest 228,052 -          -              -                           20,094            248,147        
Peter Morrison Tolmie Bequest 23,680 -          -              -                           2,087              25,767          
Watson Lecture 1,248 -          -              -                           110                 1,358            
Wood Bursary 20,649 -          -              -                           1,819              22,469          

7,139,230 -          -              -                           629,054          7,768,284     
Expendable endowments
Bryan Ashworth Bequest 457,753 -          -              -                           40,334            498,087        
Ambuj Nath Bose Bequest 588 -          -              -                           52                   640               
William Cullen Prize 10,691 -          -              -                           942                 11,633          
Stanley Davidson Trust 502,567 -          -              -                           44,282            546,849        
Education & Research Trust 501,454 -          -              -                           44,184            545,639        
Joan Ferguson Bequest 194,060 -          -              -                           17,099            211,159        
Marion B M Lindsay Bequest 59,888 -          -              -                           5,277              65,165          
Lister Fellowship 23,353 -          -              -                           2,058              25,412          
Charles McNeil Lectureship 16,224 -          -              -                           1,430              17,654          
Alexander Morison Lectureship 3,724 -          -              -                           328                 4,051            
Marjorie Robertson Trust 814,973 -          -              -                           71,809            886,783        

9,724,505 -          -              -                           856,848          10,581,353   

Notes to the Accounts (continued)

for the year ended 31 January 2020

Investments held by each trust or fund are pooled so as to form part of the College's investment portfolio, managed by Adam & Company
Investment Management Ltd. Investment income, gains and losses and related expenditure are allocated in proportion to the value of
investments held by each trust or fund.

Endowed funds in excess of £400,000 in the current year have the following purposes: 

Russell Bequest - for the purchase, maintenance, and indexing of antiquarian books and manuscripts held by the College Library.
Myre Sim Bequest - to support educational activities and oversee the award of Grants, Bursaries and a Collegiate members prize.
JMAS Sim Fellowship - to fund a Fellowship for research into the biochemical aspects of depressive illness.
Bryan Ashworth Bequest - for the support of the College Library.
Stanley Davidson Trust - for the furtherance of medical knowledge and education and for the maintenance of the College.
Education and Research Trust - established in 1984 for the furtherance of education and research.
Marjorie Robertson Trust - for research, education, building or other uses at the discretion of the President and Council.
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17b Endowment funds: movements Balance at Transfers to/(from) Balance at
in previous year (2019) 31 January Income Expenditure Restricted Investment 31 January 

2018 funds gains/(losses) 2019
£ £ £ £ £ £

Permanent endowments
W A Alexander Bequest 20,852 -          -              -                          (844) 20,008
Freeland Barbour Fellowship 31,922 -          -              -                          (1,293) 30,629
Alexander Black Bequest 5,787 -          -              -                          (235) 5,552
John Hamilton Brown Bequest 117,454 -          -              -                          (4,757) 112,697
Sir James Cameron Bequest 10,313 -          -              -                          (418) 9,895
Clouston Memorial Trust 3,575 -          -              -                          (144) 3,431
Ghulam Mohi-Ud Din Trust 2,807 -          -              -                          (114) 2,693
George A Gibson Lectureship 787 -          -              -                          (32) 755
Verona Gow Bequest 103,379 -          -              -                          (4,186) 99,193
Mohamed Haniffa Hamza Bequest 1,809 -          -              -                          (73) 1,736
Jessie MacGregor Prize 8,580 -          -              -                          (347) 8,233
James MacKenzie Medal 1,599 -          -              -                          (65) 1,534
Alexander Morison Fund 543 -          -              -                          (22) 521
Stelios Nicolaides Fund 1,184 -          -              -                          (49) 1,135
Hill Pattison-Struthers Bursaries 17,410 -          -              -                          (706) 16,704
Robert Philip Memorial Lectureship 63,570 -          -              -                          (2,574) 60,996
HRH Richards Bequest 7,097 -          -              -                          (287) 6,810
Miss Janet Reid Trust 50,481 -          -              -                          (2,044) 48,437
Catherine Wedderburn Rintoul Fund 70,079 -          -              -                          (2,838) 67,241
Russell Bequest 1,047,818 -          -              -                          (42,434) 1,005,384
John Matheson Shaw Bequest 16,232 -          -              -                          (657) 15,575
Myre Sim Bequest 1,255,309 -          -              -                          (50,837) 1,204,472
JMAS Sim Fellowship 4,316,792 -          -              -                          (174,822) 4,141,970
Sydney Watson Smith Bequest 237,678 -          -              -                          (9,626) 228,052
Peter Morrison Tolmie Bequest 24,681 -          -              -                          (1,001) 23,680
Watson Lecture 1,300 -          -              -                          (52) 1,248
Wood Bursary 21,521 -          -              -                          (872) 20,649

7,440,559 -          -              -                          (301,329) 7,139,230
Expendable endowments
Bryan Ashworth Bequest 597,074 -          -              (120,000)                 (19,321) 457,753
Ambuj Nath Bose Bequest 614 -          -              -                          (26) 588
William Cullen Prize 11,141 -          -              -                          (450) 10,691
Stanley Davidson Trust 523,780 -          -              -                          (21,213) 502,567
Education & Research Trust 522,619 -          -              -                          (21,165) 501,454
Joan Ferguson Bequest 202,251 -          -              -                          (8,191) 194,060
Marion B M Lindsay Bequest 62,416 -          -              -                          (2,528) 59,888
Lister Fellowship 24,338 -          -              -                          (985) 23,353
Charles McNeil Lectureship 16,909 -          -              -                          (685) 16,224
Alexander Morison Lectureship 3,882 -          -              -                          (158) 3,724
Marjorie Robertson Trust 849,369 -          -              -                          (34,396) 814,973

10,254,952 -          -              (120,000)                 (410,447) 9,724,505

Notes to the Accounts (continued)

for the year ended 31 January 2020
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17c Restricted funds: movements in the current year

Notes to the Accounts (continued)

for the year ended 31 January 2020

The Restricted funds of the College can be split into two categories: monies which relate to specific donations or grants
and are held as part of the College bank and cash balances; and restricted income funds made up of the accumulated
income generated by College Endowment funds.

Where the funding is in the form of a government grant, the nature and amount of the grant is disclosed below.

Funds held as part of the College bank and cash balances:

EBM Training Materials - developing educational materials on topics related to evidence-based medicine.
SCLF grant - funding fellowships for doctors taking part in the Scottish Clinical Leadership programme
ePortfolio for Revalidation - developing an e-system for recertification and revalidation.
Guidance on Adolescent Medicine - guidance for doctors in managing patients transferring from paediatric to adult
services.
Leo McArthy History of Medicine Award - to meet the costs of a prize promoting medical history reasearch.
Health and Wellbeing Fund- To support the Health and Wellbeing of RCPE staff.
HP Andrew Douglas - funding research into clincial, respiratory medicine.
James Lind Library - to meet the cost of activities intended to improve the content and/or functionality of the James
Lind Library.
MTI Placements - to help the College assist overseas doctors wishing to undertake a fixed period of training in the UK.
MTI Placements Scotland - funding of £90,000 was received from the Scottish Government to meet the costs of
appointing an additional project manager for MTI for 2 years. The aim being to place a minimum of an additional 15
International graduates through the Medical Training Initiative scheme.
Paley Stamp Collection - for conservation of the historic stamp collection of the College.
Pilot National Audits in Epilepsy and CAP - assessing and improving the standards of care for patients with epilepsy
and community-acquired pneumonia.
Scottish Academy: External Advisor Project - funding to cover an external assessor for recruitment panels which are
administered by the Scottish Academy.
SIGA (Scottish Intercollegiate Group on Alcohol) - intercollegiate body addressing problems of alcohol in society.
SHAAP (Scottish Health Action on Alcohol Problems) - a medical advocacy body on alcohol, established through
SIGA and funded by the Scottish Government.
Sibbald Library Restricted Fund - to maintain, support and develop the historic collections of the College Library.
SPARS - a study to assess junior doctors' prescribing experiences and preferences on drug charts currently available in
Scotland.
TARGET (Targeting Adverse Risk by Generating Expert Tools) - supporting the development of a computer-based
system to improve prescribing for hypertension.
Wellcome Digitisation project - a Wellcome Trust funded project to digitise and make available online a collection of
over 25,000 19th century books and pamphlets.
Wellcome Duncan Project Expenditure - grant is to fund the digitalisation of 99 casebooks digitalisation will be
performed by UK archiving.
Wellcome Ballantyne Cataloguer - funding to catalogue and conserve an important collection on developmental
medicine built up by J W Ballantyne, a pioneering specialist in ante-natal care.
Wolfson Fund - the purchase of rare books.
Zambia Fund - funding for work undertaken to support Lusaka APEX Medical University in Zambia.

Funds held as part of the College Portfolio:

These are split into Permanent and Expendable endowments and represent the accumulated income generated by the
College Endowments, net of fees and charitable expenditure.
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17c Restricted funds: movements 31 January Income Expenditure Transfers 31 January
in current year (2020) 2019 2020

£ £ £ £ £

EBM Training Materials 7,447 43 -                  -              7,490
SCLF Grant 32,481 190 -                  -              32,671
ePortfolio for Revalidation 5,221 30 -                  -              5,251
Guidance on Adolescent Medicine 17,802 104 -                  -              17,906
Health and Wellbeing Fund -                 501 -                  -              501
Leo McArthy History of Medicine Award 2,351             11 (1,091) -              1,271
HP Andrew Douglas 352,118 2,057 -                  -              354,175
James Lind Library 2,763 115 -                  -              2,878
MTI Placements 19,835 116 -                  -              19,951
MTI Placements Scotland 7,178 42 -                  -              7,220
Paley Stamp Collection 1,268 7 -                  -              1,275
Pilot National Audits in Epilepsy and CAP 10,531 62 -                  -              10,593
Scottish Academy: External Advisor Project 37,027 84,850 (83,264) -              38,613
SIGA 1,189 7 -                  -              1,196
SHAAP 75,603 302,129 (294,230) -              83,502
Sibbald Library Restricted Fund 1,813 82,107 (12,100) -              71,820
SPARS 4,509 26 -                  -              4,535
TARGET 115 1 -                  -              116
Wellcome Digitisation project 42 -               -                  -              42
Wellcome Duncan Project Expenditure 1,907 11 -                  -              1,918
Wellcome Ballantyne Cataloguer 16,676 (3,982) (10,871) -              1,823
Wolfson Fund 1,963 11 -                  -              1,974
Zambia Fund 846 5 -                  -              851

600,685 468,444 (401,556) -              667,573
Held as part of the College Portfolio

Permanent endowments
W A Alexander Bequest -                 629 (99) (21) 509                
Freeland Barbour Fellowship 4,329 992 (128) (92) 5,101             
Alexander Black Bequest 1,699 186 (23) (17) 1,844             
John Hamilton Brown Bequest 36,898 3,793 (469) (350) 39,872           
Sir James Cameron Bequest 1,660 322 (41) (30) 1,912             
Clouston Memorial Trust 2,224 123 (164) (11) 2,172             
Ghulam Mohi-Ud Din Trust 2,311 100 (11) (9) 2,391             
George A Gibson Lectureship 199 25 (3) (2) 219                
Verona Gow Bequest 18,353 3,309 (2,621) (305) 18,735           
Mohamed Haniffa Hamza Bequest 692 59 (7) (5) 739                
Jessie MacGregor Prize 5,502 296 (34) (27) 5,737             
James MacKenzie Medal 1,217 57 (6) (5) 1,262             
Alexander Morison Fund 2,116 31 (2) (3) 2,142             
Stelios Nicolaides Fund 1,600 47 (5) (4) 1,637             
Hill Pattison-Struthers Bursaries 7,205 574 (70) (53) 7,657             
Robert Philip Memorial Lectureship 7,882 1,970 (254) (182) 9,416             
HRH Richards Bequest 709 219 (28) (20) 879                
Miss Janet Reid Trust 14,766 1,623 (4,114) (149) 12,125           
Catherine Wedderburn Rintoul Fund 9,065 2,174 (280) (201) 10,757           
Russell Bequest 30,793 31,789 (7,149) (2,969) 52,465           
John Matheson Shaw Bequest 5,322 526 (65) (48) 5,734             
Myre Sim Bequest 81,121 38,388 (18,936) (3,568) 97,005           
JMAS Sim Fellowship 289,606 134,473 (273,816) (12,484) 137,778         
Sydney Watson Smith Bequest 49,441 7,502 (950) (695) 55,299           
Peter Morrison Tolmie Bequest 9,390 808 (99) (74) 10,025           
Watson Lecture 1,254 48 (5) (4) 1,292             
Wood Bursary 4,688 684 (86) (63) 5,223             

590,042 230,748 (309,466) (21,394) 489,929
Expendable endowments
Bryan Ashworth Bequest 37,448 14,644 (35,856) (1,424) 14,812
Ambuj Nath Bose Bequest 777 24 (2) (2) 796
William Cullen Prize 2,620 354 (253) (33) 2,688
Stanley Davidson Trust 78,857 16,343 (2,093) (23,058) 70,049
Education & Research Trust 22,187 15,902 (5,966) (1,475) 30,648
Joan Ferguson Bequest 10,086 6,164 (5,827) (572) 9,851
Marion B M Lindsay Bequest 6,058 1,923 (249) (178) 7,553
Lister Fellowship 10,627 806 (97) (74) 11,262
Charles McNeil Lectureship 7,509 561 (68) (52) 7,951
Alexander Morison Lectureship 3,694 142 (16) (13) 3,808
Isabella Kirk Duncanson Trust 22,570 157 (5,240) (15) 17,473
Marjorie Robertson Trust 4,666 25,633 (3,394) (4,304) 22,601

207,099 82,654 (59,061) (31,200) 199,493

Total Restricted funds 1,397,826 781,845 (770,082) (52,594) 1,356,995

Notes to the Accounts (continued)
for the year ended 31 January 2020

Held as part of the College bank & cash balances
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17c Restricted funds: movements 31 January Income Expenditure Transfers 31 January
 in the previous year (2019) 2018 2019

£ £ £ £ £
Held as part of the College bank & cash balances

Conference Centre donations 627,345 100 (627,445)         -             0
EBM Training Materials 7,402 45 -                  -             7,447
SCLF Grant 32,285 196 -                  -             32,481
ePortfolio for Revalidation 5,190 31 -                  -             5,221
Guidance on Adolescent Medicine 17,696 106 -                  -             17,802
Leo McArthy History of Medicine Award -                   4,007 (1,656)             -             2,351
HP Andrew Douglas 350,000 2,118 -                  -             352,118
James Lind Library 2,646 117 -                  -             2,763
MTI Placements 19,715 120 -                  -             19,835
MTI Placements Scotland 31,261 116 (24,199)           -             7,178
Paley Stamp Collection 1,260 8 -                  -             1,268
Pilot National Audits in Epilepsy and CAP 10,529             64 (62)                  -             10,531
Scottish Academy: External Advisor Project 62,820 78,982 (104,775)         -             37,027
SIGA 1,183 6 -                  -             1,189
SHAAP 88,764 250,450 (263,611)         -             75,603
Sibbald Library Restricted Fund 2,894 249 (1,330)             -             1,813
SPARS 4,482 27                -                  -             4,509
TARGET 114 1                  -                  -             115
Wellcome Digitisation project 42                    0 0 -             42
Wellcome Duncan Project Expenditure 1,894               13 -                  -             1,907
Wellcome Ballantyne Cataloguer 40,356 172 (23,852)           -             16,676
Wolfson Fund 1,951               12 -                  -             1,963
Zambia Fund 9,024 572 (8,750) -             846
Held as part of the College Portfolio 1,318,853        337,512       (1,055,680) -             600,685           

Permanent endowments
W A Alexander Bequest -                   585 (79)                  (506)           -                   
Freeland Barbour Fellowship 4,374 919 (121)                (843)           4,329               
Alexander Black Bequest 1,567 171 (22)                  (17)             1,699               
John Hamilton Brown Bequest 34,181 3,498 (444)                (337)           36,898             
Sir James Cameron Bequest 1,430 298 (39)                  (29)             1,660               
Clouston Memorial Trust 2,135 113 (13)                  (11)             2,224               
Ghulam Mohi-Ud Din Trust 2,238 92 (11)                  (8)               2,311               
George A Gibson Lectureship 181 23 (3) (2)               199                  
Verona Gow Bequest 25,816 3,054 (10,222)           (295)           18,353             
Mohamed Haniffa Hamza Bequest 650 54 (7)                    (5)               692                  
Jessie MacGregor Prize 5,288 272 (32)                  (26)             5,502               
James MacKenzie Medal 1,177 51 (6) (5)               1,217               
Alexander Morison Fund 2,094 27 (2)                    (3)               2,116               
Stelios Nicolaides Fund 1,567 42 (5) (4)               1,600               
Hill Pattison-Struthers Bursaries 6,792 529 (65)                  (51)             7,205               
Robert Philip Memorial Lectureship 6,475 1,823 (240)                (176)           7,882               
HRH Richards Bequest 553 203 (27) (20)             709                  
Miss Janet Reid Trust 11,108 1,493 2,309              (144)           14,766             
Catherine Wedderburn Rintoul Fund 8,212 2,014 (265)                (896)           9,065               
Russell Bequest 48,334 29,686 (44,342) (2,885)        30,793             
John Matheson Shaw Bequest 4,945 485 (61) (47)             5,322               
Myre Sim Bequest 80,660 35,675 (27,952) (7,262)        81,121             
JMAS Sim Fellowship 193,557 124,842 (16,661)           (12,132)      289,606           
Sydney Watson Smith Bequest 47,414 6,945 (4,248) (670)           49,441             
Peter Morrison Tolmie Bequest 8,811 744 (93)                  (72)             9,390               
Watson Lecture 1,218 45 (5) (4)               1,254               
Wood Bursary 4,197 633 (81) (61) 4,688               

504,974           214,316       (102,737) (26,511) 590,042           
Expendable endowments
Bryan Ashworth Bequest 17,330 14,238 (112,461)         118,341      37,448
Ambuj Nath Bose Bequest 760 21 (2)                    (2)               777
William Cullen Prize 2,958 329 (635)                (32)             2,620
Stanley Davidson Trust 90,556 15,214 (25,442) (1,471)        78,857
Education & Research Trust 13,239 14,755 (4,372)             (1,435)        22,187
Joan Ferguson Bequest 5,690 5,716 (765)                (555)           10,086
Marion B M Lindsay Bequest 4,686 1,781 (236)                (173)           6,058
Lister Fellowship 10,048 742 (92)                  (71)             10,627
Charles McNeil Lectureship 7,106 516 (64)                  (49)             7,509
Alexander Morison Lectureship 3,591               130 (15)                  (12)             3,694
Isabella Kirk Duncanson Trust 26,355 145 (3,930) -             22,570
Marjorie Robertson Trust 60,904             24,042         (77,931) (2,349) 4,666               

243,223           77,629         (225,945) 112,192      207,099           

Total Restricted funds 2,067,050 629,457 (1,384,362) 85,681 1,397,826

Notes to the Accounts (continued)
for the year ended 31 January 2020
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17d Transfers between funds

Designated funds

Restricted funds

18 Reconciliation of net income/ (expenditure) to net cash flow from operating activities

2020 2019
£ £

Net income/ (expenditure) for the reporting period 2,478,041 (3,331,269)
Depreciation charges 129,942 144,818
(Gains)/ Losses on investments (944,549) 452,457
(Gains) on Property Revaluation (1,540,000) -              
Dividends, interest and rents from investments (363,338) (343,367)
Decrease in stocks 348 7,966
Decrease/ (Increase) in debtors 125,589 (280,327)
(Decrease)/ Increase in creditors (60,757) 443,886

Net cash (used in) operating activities (174,724) (2,905,836)  

Notes to the Accounts (continued)

for the year ended 31 January 2020

£192,545 (2019: £196,632) was transferred in the period to the Designated Msc Internal Medicine Fund. These
funds represent the surplus received from the joint Msc Internal Medicine course run in partnership with the
University of Edinburgh. This fund is to be used to sponsor tuition fees for students enrolled on the course.

£Nil (2019: £1,000,000) was transferred in the period to the Designated Fabric Fund. This is to support the
refurbishment of the Conference Centre.

£200,000 (2019: £Nil) was transferred in the period from the Strategic Planning Fund to the Designated Fabric
Fund. This is to support the refurbishment of the new Fellows and Members lounge.

An inter-fund charge of £27,416 (2019: £26,626) was made in favour of the General Fund against designated
funds for the cost of financial and management administration over the period. This comprised a charge in
respect of the MSC Internal Medicine course of 10% of annual revenue. Furthermore a charge of 10% of annual
revenue generated by designated funds in the year ended 31 January 2019 was made and allocated in
proportion to the value of investments held by each trust or fund.

£Nil (2019: £3,790) was transferred from the Myre Sim Bequest to support work on online international
registrations for education events.

£21,537 (2019: £Nil) was transferred from the Stanley Davidson fund to support work on starting up the new
Quality Governance Collobarative.

£1,900 (2019: £Nil) was transferred from the Marjorie Robertson fund to the general fund to contribute to the
mentoring training programme.

An inter-fund charge of £29,194 (2019: £28,626) was made in favour of the General Fund against the restricted
income funds administered as part of the College portfolio for the cost of financial and management administration
over the period. This was based on 10% of annual revenue generated by each endowment in the year ended 31
January 2019 and was allocated in proportion to the value of investments held by each trust or fund.
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19 Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

Changes in net funds 31 January 1 February
2020 Cash flows 2019

£ £ £

Cash in hand 4,124,723 (154,871) 4,279,594
Cash held as part of investment portfolio 342,069 (91,126) 433,195

4,466,791 (245,998) 4,712,789

20 Contingent Liability

21 The Federation of the Royal Colleges of Physicians of the United Kingdom

22 Post Balance Sheet Event- Effects of COVID-19

Notes to the Accounts (continued)

for the year ended 31 January 2020

The College has no potential commitments to pay (2019: nil) in respect of future years of 3 year grants awarded
to MSc students as the grants have yet to be confirmed. These have not been provided for in these accounts as
courses are often amended or not fully completed and therefore payment is not considered to be probable.

The Federation is a partnership of the three medical royal colleges of physicians in the UK established to
manage joint working in agreed areas such as assessment, specialist training and professional development
activities. The three partners involved are: Royal College of Physicians London (RCPL), Royal College of
Physicians Edinburgh (RCPE) and Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons Glasgow (RCP&SG).

In the year to 31st December 2019, Federation generated a total income of £17.5m (2018: £16.4m) and total
expenditure of £10.2m (2018: £10.3m) resulting in a surplus of £7.3m (2018: £6.2m). RCPE share of surplus was
£1.6m (22% of total).

As at 31st December 2019, Federation total assets and liabilities were £5m. Included within the assets were
amounts due to/(from) Federation partners. RCPE and RCP&SG were due £1.1m and £0.4m, respectively.
RCPL owed £5m to Federation. Council will seek to investigate how such a position could have arisen and any
immediate and historic benefits gained by the London College by holding this debt to Federation.

In January 2021, Federation undertook an independent, non-statutory audit of the balance sheet as at 31st
December 2019. Notwithstanding that the audit was not a full statutory audit, no material errors or misstatements
were identified although a wide range of improvements in financial management and governance were
recommended.

The significance of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic did not become apparent until after the end of the
financial year and this has had a detrimental impact on investment valuations and investment income, as well
as other key income sources of the College affected by the restrictions referred to below. The longer term
effects on investments are unclear, but the situation is being managed by members of Council, as the Charity
Trustees, and the Trustees who carry delegated authority for managing the investment portofolio with advice
from their investment advisers. All trustees remain satisfied that there is no impact on the going concern of the
charity.

Operating activities have been significantly affected by the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic and the
operating restrictions imposed. Activities have continued throughout the period of the pandemic but only
restarted substantially in July 2020 with steps taken to develop online and hybrid events to operate within
government guidelines. Examinations activities have been significantly hampered with wholesale cancellations
in the early part of 2020. All written examinations have moved online and in-person examinations, such as
PACES, have been restructured to operate within government guidelines. All examinations internationally
continue to be impacted throughout 2020 and 2021. A full programme of College education courses and
symposia have been moved online.

Further information on the impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic Is set out in the Annual Report.
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